

UNIVERSITY OF LEUVEN (KU Leuven)

European Master's Degree in Human Rights and Democratisation A.Y. 2018/2019

Safe Country of Origin and Safe Third Countries

Authentic Concepts of Safety?

Author: Inês Avelãs Nunes Supervisors: Koen Lemmens and Nina Roox



Abstract

In recent years, there has been a growing discussion around the migration and asylum issues concerning the need for new rules for the asylum system in the European Union (EU). The Commission has presented different proposals to develop the fundamental documents in this area, namely the Asylum Procedure Regulation, which defines the safe country of origin (SCO) and the safe third country (STC) concepts and their application. However, the European Parliament and the Council have not yet reached an agreement on this issue.

The SCO and STC concepts emerge from the assumption that certain countries can be considered as generally safe for people who live in their territory; however, they have different functions. While the SCO concept permits specific applications to be declared as unfounded, the STC concept should only have an impact on the admissibility of the asylum claim and not on the evaluation of the facts of the application.

The aim of this thesis is to understand whether the evolution of the criteria and safeguards of both concepts, as established in the EU legislation, are enough to affirm that they are not too restrictive of the rights and guarantees of the asylum-seekers and refugees, and whether they allow for an effective use of the system.



Table of Contents

Introduction	5
1. Historic evolution from the beginning of the 20 th century until today	9
1.1 Global level	9
1.1.1 The World Wars and the establishment of an international protection system	10
1.1.2 The 21 st century and the new instruments	15
1.2 European level	17
1.2.1 Intergovernmental cooperation	17
1.2.2 The institutionalisation of the European asylum system	19
1.2.3 The 2015 crisis	
2. Safe country concepts	
2.1 Safe country of origin (SCO)	30
2.1.1 Meaning of the SCO concept	30
2.1.2 Relevant principles	
2.1.3 SCO in EU legislation	
2.1.3.1 The past	33
2.1.3.2 The present	38
2.1.3.3 The future	41
2.1.4 Practical case: Turkey as an SCO	45
2.1.5 SCO in the world – The Canadian experience	47
2.1.6 Conclusions on SCO in the European system	49
2.2 Safe third country (STC)	51
2.2.1 Meaning of the STC concept	51
2.2.2 Relevant principles	53
2.2.3 STC in EU legislation	54
2.2.3.1 The past	54
2.2.3.2 The present	58



2.2.3.3 The future	
2.2.4 Practical case: Turkey as an STC (EU-Turkey Statement)	
2.2.5 STC in the World – The South African experience	
2.2.6 Conclusions on STC in the European system	
Conclusion	69
Primary Sources	74
Bibliography	



Introduction

In recent years, there has been a growing discussion on the need for new rules for the asylum system in the European Union (EU). Even if the majority of the Member States and the European institutions agree with the fundamental necessity for change, they have not been able to decide which path the EU should follow, which has prevented the development of new policies. The positions are not clear-cut and have different variations, but generally they can be placed into two broad groups.

One side has defended the position of the establishment of a structured and complete European framework to deal with the asylum-seekers and refugees alongside the migration policy to create a sustainable system that respects moral and international obligations and build a unified system based on comparative advantages.¹

The other side has defended the necessity of countries' maintaining control over the asylum policies as well as the need for Europe to focus on the protection of its external borders from the high number of migrants that come from the Southern Hemisphere.²

One of the critical and more controversial discussions has been how the EU should interact with third countries (countries outside of the EU), namely how and when EU institutions and Member States can consider a non-EU country as a safe country of origin or a safe third country in order to legitimise the refusal of asylum.

The discussion around the asylum issues and, more concretely, the question of the safe countries is still very pertinent today for European policies, even though the number of people arriving in EU territory³ decreased in the last two years. I would like to highlight now two of the reasons why this question is important.

¹ Alexander Betts and Paul Collier, "Sustainable Migration Framework" (June 2018), EMN Norway Occasional Papers; ² Stephanie Kirchgaessner, "Italy's Salvini warns EU to 'defend its border' against migrants", *The Guardian* (London, 20 June 2018).

³ Arrivals in Europe (through the Mediterranean Sea) – 2015: 1.015.877; 2016: 363.425; 2017: 172.324; 2018: 116.647; UNHCR, "Desperate Journeys – Refugees and migrants arriving in European and at Europe's borders: January – December 2018" (2019), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/desperatejourneys/</u>> accessed 25/04/2016, p "Arrival by Country 2018 Jan-Dec".



First, although the number of people arriving in the European territory decreased, the number of asylum-seekers and refugees is increasing worldwide.⁴ It is also important to remember that this number will probably be significantly higher in the near future,⁵ considering not only the increase in armed conflicts and massive human rights violations that we are witnessing but also the rapid evolution of climate change and the consequences that it is having on populations.⁶

Secondly, although the existence of proposals to reform the entire EU asylum system and, more concretely, the Asylum Procedure Regulation, which defines the safe country of origin (SCO) and the safe third country (STC) concepts and their application, an agreement between the European Parliament and the Council has not yet been reached,⁷ and so everything is still open. This is positive in the sense that it is still possible to improve the Commission's proposal in order to find more favourable solutions. It is also negative, however, since, almost four years after the crisis of 2015, the system that is still running is the same one that failed in 2015, and with the increase of populist and anti-migration parties in the European Parliament, the future changes in the Commission's proposals could lead to a decrease in the protection of asylum-seekers and refugee rights and safeguards.

The two fundamental concepts that will be under analysis are, thus, the SCO and STC. Both emerge from the assumption that certain countries, due to their laws and practices, can be considered as generally safe for people who live in their territory (nationals for the first concept and foreigners for the second one). Emerging from similar assumptions, they have, however, different

⁴ Number of forcibly displaced people in the world – 2015: 63.9 million (16.1 million refugees); 2016: 67.7 million (17.1 million refugees); 2017: 71.4 million (19.9 million refugees); UNHCR, Global Reports, Publications, <<u>http://reporting.unhcr.org/publications#tab-global_appeal&_ga=2.251141574.139877978.1559305595-</u>

<u>1258753952.1482448555</u>> accessed 31/05/2019; "The number of people fleeing war, persecution and conflict exceeded 70 million in 2018. This is the highest level that UNHCR, the UN Refugee Agency, has seen in its almost 70 years.", UNHCR, "Worldwide displacement tops 70 million, UN Refugee Chief urges greater solidarity in response" (UNHCR, 19 June 2019).

⁵ Richard Skretteberg, "2019 will be another year of crises" (Norwegian Refugee Council), <<u>https://www.nrc.no/shorthand/fr/2019-will-be-another-year-of-crises/index.html</u>> accessed 31/05/2019.

⁶ Today, millions of people are already forced to move as a consequence of natural disasters and the impacts of climate changes, such as floods, tropical storms, earthquakes, landslides, droughts or glacial melting. For example, in 2018, 17.18 million people were forced to move due to natural disasters. Displacement Monitoring Centre, "Total annual new displacements since 2003 (Conflict and violence) and 2008 (Disasters)", <http://www.internaldisplacement.org/database/displacement-data> accessed 31/05/2019. According to recent studies, in addition to forced movements, climate changes have contributed to the growth of poverty and tensions that are the source of new conflicts. Displacement Monitoring Centre, "No matter of choice: displacement in a changing climate" (Thematic Series, December 2018).

⁷ Kris Pollet, "All in vain? The fate of EP positions on asylum reform after the European elections" (EU Immigration and Asylum Law and Policy, 23 May 2019).



functions. While the SCO concept permits to state that specific applications are unfounded, the STC concept should only have an impact on the admissibility of the asylum claim and not on the evaluation of the facts of the application.

The aim of this thesis is to understand whether the evolution of the criteria and safeguards of SCO and STC concepts, as established in the EU legislation, are enough to affirm that they are not too restrictive or violating of the rights and guarantees of the asylum-seekers and refugees, and whether they allow for an effective use of the system.

To respond to this fundamental issue, first I will address the question of how the safe country of origin and safe third country concepts have been established in the context of the European asylum policies, with a special focus on the Asylum Procedure Directives and the Asylum Procedure Regulation proposal. Secondly, I will examine how the inclusion of these concepts in EU legislation has influenced the general protection of the rights and safeguards of asylum seekers and refugees over time. Finally, I will address the question of whether the two concepts are compatible with a coherent, safe, and complete system for the protection of the rights and safeguards of the asylum-seekers and refugees or whether, considering their characteristics and consequences, they are inadequate and unacceptable in a system that is meant to be fair and effective.

To accomplish the objectives that I have proposed, I will start with some considerations on the cornerstone events, legal documents, and institutions that led to the creation and development of the international refugee system worldwide. I will do so in order to understand how international obligations towards people in need of international protection have advanced and have become binding for states and international and regional organisations.

Afterwards, I will conduct a similar evaluation of the principal events, legal documents, and institutions with connections to asylum in the context of European communities and the EU. This step is fundamental to understand the context in which the concepts of SCO and STC emerged and developed.

In the following parts, I will focus on the concepts themselves, presenting their definitions, the principles that they involve, their incorporation into the European directives and the regulation proposal on asylum procedures, and analyse a concrete example of the application of the concepts. Finally, I will compare the application of the SCO and STC concepts in European legislation and other legal systems, namely, Canada and South Africa, respectively. The inclusion of other examples of the application of the concepts is essential to understand how it is done in other parts of



the world and to understand in which level of protection of the rights the EU solution is comparing with solutions adopted by others. The choice of Canada, in the case of the SCO, is because of its importance in the context of migration and asylum issues and because of the differences in the model chosen by that country in comparison with the EU solution. The choice of South Africa, regarding the STC, is due to the importance of the country in the African context and due to the evolution of the concept in this country.

These different elements of analysis will support the conclusion that, generally, the inclusion of these concepts into EU legislation somewhat increased the standards of their application at national level. Nevertheless, the precise use of the concepts still faces diverse challenges that put in danger some of the essential safeguards of the asylum-seekers.

In this thesis, I will not be able to deal with all the issues related to the relationship between the EU and third countries in the area of asylum and migration, and much less do I intend to touch on all the problems and challenges of the current European asylum system. Instead, I will focus specifically on the question of rejecting asylum applications based on the safe countries concept and the future developments of the EU policies regarding these two concepts.



1. Historic evolution from the beginning of the 20th century until today

To understand the current worldwide context regarding migration and asylum, it is crucial to look at and understand some of the historic milestones that allow us to perceive where we are and why we find ourselves in these circumstances today.

In order to have a general understanding of the international and European systems, in this first chapter, I will analyse some of their most important moments and their evolution from the beginning of the 20th century (when the current international protection system for refugees and asylum-seekers emerged) until today.

1.1 Global level

In this subchapter, I will analyse the crucial moments of the evolution of the international asylum system to have a broader comprehension of the context in which the European system has grown and, more specifically, where the SCO and STC emerged.

Because it is impossible to analyse all the fundamental moments of the history of the migration and refugee issues, I will focus on the recent history, more concretely on the developments from the beginning of the 20th century until the present.



1.1.1 The World Wars and the establishment of an international protection system

The international system of protection of refugees, as we know it today, had its inception at the beginning of the 20th century, mainly after the First World War (WWI). However, migration issues are matters of a much more faraway past.⁸

The wars and conflicts that occurred from before WWI until the Second World War (WWII) caused the forced displacement of millions of people in Europe.⁹ To respond to this, the League of Nations designated the two first High Commissioners for Refugees.

The first High Commissioner for Refugees, Dr Fridjof Nansen (whose mandate ran from 1921 to 1930), was assigned the task of defining the status of the Russian Refugee¹⁰ and organising the repatriation of war prisoners. In situations where repatriation would not be possible, war prisoners were to be distributed among the countries able to receive them.¹¹ However, in consequence of new conflicts, his mandate was extended, and he also became responsible for the reception and integration of refugees from other countries.¹²

The Second High Commissioner for Refugees, James McDonald, was mandated, in 1933, to help in the assistance of refugees from Germany. In 1935, only two years after having been appointed as High Commissioner, he put in a request for resignation due to a lack of tools to accomplish his objectives and purposes.¹³

Also, in 1933, the Convention relating to the International Status of Refugees¹⁴ was adopted. This convention stipulated, among other aspects, the prohibition of the forced return of refugees to their countries of origin.¹⁵ The convention, nevertheless, had little effectiveness since only nine¹⁶ countries ratified it.

⁸ For example, we just need to think of the consequences of the Inquisition in Portugal and Spain that compelled Jews to leave both countries in order to survive and maintain their faith. BBC News, "Portugal to naturalise descendants of Jews expelled centuries ago", *BBC News* (London, 29 January 2015).

⁹ Teresa Cierco, A Instituição de Asilo na União Europeia (Coimbra, Edições Almedina, August 2010), p 27.

¹⁰ To whom were assigned identity cards called "Passport Nassen"; Cierco (n 9), p 26.

¹¹ Cierco (n 9), p 27.

 ¹² Armenians (1924), Assyrian, Assyro-Chaldean and Turkish (1928); Erika Feller, "The Evolution of the International Refugee Protection Regime" (January 2001), volume 5, *Washington University Journal of Law and Policy*, p 130.
 ¹³ Cierco (n 9), p 34.

¹⁴ Convention Relating to the International Status of Refugees (adopted 28 October 1933), CLIX No. 3663.

¹⁵ Convention Relating to the International Status of Refugees, Article 3(1).



In 1938, the Convention Concerning the Status of Refugees Coming from Germany¹⁷ had even less effect than its predecessor since only three countries ratified it because of the outbreak of WWII.¹⁸

In the same year, the President of the United States of America (USA), Franklin D. Roosevelt, presided over the Evian Conference¹⁹ to deal with the issues of the Jewish refugees. After Germany's annexation of Austria, Roosevelt decided to promote this conference to discuss the facilitation of the emigration of Jewish refugees from Austria and Germany, namely through the increase of the number of people welcomed by the different countries.

Delegates from thirty-two countries were invited, but the representatives of the participating countries were not willing to welcome more people based on the argument that the social and economic situation did not allow them to increase the quota of people welcomed substantively, making new commitments²⁰ impossible. This decision, which proved to be based on an erroneous evaluation of the intentions, or at least the scale of the intentions, of the German government, had a catastrophic result for millions of people (namely Jews, Roma, homosexuals, political opponents, and Jehovah's witnesses).

On 9 November 1943, the United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration (UNRRA) was established by 48 governments.²¹ The primordial criteria to determine which countries should receive help²² from UNRRA were (i) the liberated countries (ii) those among them that had made a request for help and (iii) those that did not have sufficient financial capacity to acquire supplies and face urgent needs.²³

¹⁶ Belgium, Bulgaria, Czechoslovakia, Denmark, France, Great Britain, Ireland, Italy and Norway; Convention Relating to the International Status of Refugees, Appendix.

¹⁷ Convention concerning the Status of Refugees Coming from Germany (adopted 10 February 1938), CXCII, No. 4461.

¹⁸ Belgium, Great Britain and Ireland; Convention concerning the Status of Refugees Coming from Germany, Appendix.

¹⁹ The Conference occurred between 6 and 15 July 1938, in Evian, France; Ansgar Schaefer, "A Conferência de Évian", *Portugal e os Refugiados Judeus Provenientes do Território Alemão (1933-1949)* (Imprensa da Universidade de Coimbra, 2014), p 92.

²⁰ Schaefer (n 19), p 92-93.

²¹ Office of Public Information United Nations Relief and Rehabilitations Administration, "50 Facts about UNRRA", (CVCE, 15 February 1947), p 7.

²² Food, clothing, shelters, medicine, fuel, health and welfare services, assistance in care and repatriation of displaced persons, restore fundamental farm and factory production; Office of Public Information United Nations Relief and Rehabilitations Administration (n 21), p 7-11.

²³ Office of Public Information United Nations Relief and Rehabilitations Administration (n 21), p 7.



Nevertheless, the UNRRA also provided limited emergency aid when it was extremely necessary, even if the countries did not meet the criteria referred to above.²⁴ Germany and Japan stayed off the list of the countries that received help, since they were considered aggressors and not victims of aggression.²⁵

In 1947, the UNRRA finished its mandate, and the United Nations (UN) and its agencies assumed the UNRRA's competencies.²⁶

Also in 1947, the International Refugee Organization (IRO) was established as a non-permanent UN Agency with the mandate to assist²⁷ refugees and displaced persons who could not or did not want to return to their countries after the end of WWII in Europe.²⁸

Finally, in December 1950, the Statute of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR)²⁹ was adopted. One year later, in 1951, the Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees³⁰ was adopted.

The negotiation process for the creation of the UNHCR occurred during the emergence of the division of the world between the Western countries and the Soviet Union (and its satellite countries), two blocs with completely distinctive perspectives and ideas about human rights and how the international system should work. The bipolarity of the world made this process very tense and complex.

The UNHCR is a non-political³¹ agency dedicated to humanitarian and social work. Nevertheless, it has to respect the policy directives of the General Assembly and the Economic and Social Council.³²

 $^{^{24}}$ For instance, some specific groups living in Germany and Japan were considered not as aggressors, but as victims and, because of that, received some aid; Office of Public Information United Nations Relief and Rehabilitations Administration (n 21), p 8.

²⁵ Office of Public Information United Nations Relief and Rehabilitations Administration (n 21), p 8.

²⁶ Food and Agriculture Organization (1945); Interim Commission of the World Health Organization (1946); International Refugee Organization (1947); Office of Public Information United Nations Relief and Rehabilitations Administration (n 21), p 34.
²⁷ Addressing all the aspects of the resistance for the communication of the second second

 $^{^{27}}$ Addressing all the aspects of the assistance of the refugees – from registration and determination of status to repatriation, resettlement and protection system. Feller (n 12) p 130.

 $^{^{28}}$ The assistance provided by the IRO involved the care and maintenance of refugee camps, vocational training, orientation for resettlement, and finding lost relatives; Feller (n 12) p 130.

²⁹ Statute of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for the Refugees (adopted 14 December 1950) A/RES/428(V) (Statute of the Office of the UNHCR).

³⁰ Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees (adopted 28 July 1951, entered into force 22 April 1954) 189 UNTS 137 (Geneva Convention).

³¹ Statute of the Office of the UNHCR, Chapter I, Para 2, Annex.

³² Statute of the Office of the UNHCR, Chapter I, Para 3, Annex.



The UNHCR mandate was initially for three years. However, it was soon seen that this short mandate would not be enough to resolve the situation in Europe. Moreover, many other emergencies, which called for urgent action by the UNHCR, were appearing, emphasising the necessity of this agency.³³

Currently, the UNHCR provides international protection and seeks permanent solutions for persons of concern,³⁴ in accordance with the Annex of the Statute of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Nonetheless, it also participates in UN humanitarian actions, exercises diplomatic and consular functions for persons of concern, intercedes on their behalf when they would not otherwise be legally represented at the international level, and invites states and/or other specialised agencies to co-operate in its actions.³⁵

The Geneva Convention, approved in 1951, adopted a definition of the concept of refugee with temporal³⁶ and geographical³⁷ limitations. It was only in 1967, with the adoption of the Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees,³⁸ that the temporal³⁹ and geographical⁴⁰ limitations were abolished, extending the protection of the Geneva Convention. Today, the Geneva Convention, together with the New York Protocol, is a core document for the protection of refugees in the world, even though it still has some limitations.⁴¹

In the Geneva Convention and the New York Protocol, we can find the definition of the concept of refugee,⁴² the rights of refugees⁴³ and the basic legal obligations of the states.⁴⁴

³³ Some examples: NATO foundation (1949), Korean War (1950-1953), Warsaw Pact (1955) Hungarian Revolution (1954), decolonization in Africa (1960s), building of the Berlin Wall (1961), Greece and Turkey conflict (1974), Vietnam (1975), Cambodia (late 1970s), repression and violence in Central America (1980s), Afghanistan (1979), Gulf War (1990s), Rohingya (1991), Balkan Wars (1990s), Rwanda (1994), collapse of the Soviet Union (1991), East Timor (1999), Darfur (2004), Somalia (2009), Syria (2011). ³⁴ Refugees and asylum seekers, returnees, stateless persons, internally displaced; UNHCR, "Note on the Mandate of

the High Commissioner for Refugees and his Office" (October 2013).

³⁵ UNHCR, Note on the Mandate of the High Commissioner for Refugees and his Office (n 34), p 1-2.

 $^{^{36}}$ Only facts occurred before 1951 should be considered; Geneva Convention, Article 1(A)(1)(2).

³⁷ Only Europeans benefit from the refugee concept (Geneva Convention, Article 1(B)(1)).

³⁸ Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees (adopted 21 January 1967, entered into force 4 October 1967), Treaty Series, vol. 606 (New York Protocol).

³⁹ New York Protocol, Article I/2.

⁴⁰ New York Protocol, Article II/3.

⁴¹ They only deal with the status of refugees and not with solutions for or causes of the situation of the refugees. Feller (n 12), p 131.

⁴² Geneva Convention, Article 1/A/2.

⁴³ Geneva Convention, Articles 3, 12-24, 26, 33.

⁴⁴ Geneva Convention, Articles 4, 7-11, 25, 27-32.



The fundamental principles are the principles of non-refoulement⁴⁵ and protection against discrimination.⁴⁶ The first principle establishes that a refugee or an asylum-seeker cannot be returned to her/his own country or another one where she/he faces severe threats to her/his life or freedom.⁴⁷ The dominant doctrine defends that this principle should be applied from the moment the asylum-seeker enters the territory and asks for protection, independently of the future decision. This is the moment considered, because a later one would increase the risk of unweight and incomplete analysis, which, consequently, would allow a more significant number of people to be sent to places where they could face threats to their life or freedom.

The Geneva Convention and the New York Protocol have been very criticised. On the one hand, there are those that argue that these two legal documents are outdated and insufficient to address the size and complexity of the current migration phenomena and the new migration movements, which have new causes.⁴⁸ On the other hand, we have those that defend that these two documents are too burdensome for the host countries since they allow excessive invocation of the refugee statute, namely, in the case of mixed migration flows.⁴⁹⁵⁰

Between the 1950s and 1970s, some fundamental documents related to the protection of the refugees were established. Some of the documents defined a broader category of protected persons. The Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa⁵¹ is especially important since, in this Convention, the concept of refugee also includes the person "who, owing to external aggression, occupation, foreign domination, or events seriously disturbing public order in either part or the whole of his country of origin or nationality, is compelled to leave his place of habitual residence in order to seek refuge in another place outside his country of origin or nationality"⁵² (a victim of generalised conflict and violence).

⁴⁵ Geneva Convention, Article 33.

⁴⁶ Geneva Convention, Article 3.

⁴⁷ This principle cannot, however, be invoked by the asylum-seekers when there are reasonable grounds for considering them a danger to the security of the country or a danger to the community; Geneva Convention, Article 33/2.

⁴⁸ Mary Dejevsky, "The Geneva refugee convention can't cope with this crisis. Time for a rethink", The Guardian (London, 18 January 2016). ⁴⁹ It occurs when "refugees or migrants [...] move for different reasons but [...] use similar routes"; New York

Declaration for Refugees and Migrants (adopted 19 September 2016), A/RES/71/1 (New York Declaration).

⁵⁰ Maja Janmyr, "No country of asylum: 'Legitimizing' Lebanon's Rejection of the 1951 Refugee Convention" (2017), 29(3), Interntional Journal of Refugee Law.

⁵¹ Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa (adopted 10 September 1969, entered into force 20 June 1974) 1001 U.N.T.S. 45 (OAU Convention).

⁵² Feller (n 12), p 132.



The Meeting on Refugees and Displaced Persons in South-East Asia (20 and 21 July 1979) reached a consensus and approved the Comprehensive Action Plan (CPA)⁵³ to respond to the large number of Vietnamese fleeing from very dangerous conditions. The CPA is considered the first attempt to involve countries of asylum, origin and resettlement, as well as donors in a plan geared toward sharing responsibilities.⁵⁴

In the 1980s and 1990s, however, the social, community and political will to grant asylum "on the generous terms of the past"⁵⁵ declined. In the opposite direction, the number of refugees increased enormously with the growth of internal conflicts and with human rights abuses becoming objectives of military strategies (which led smaller conflicts to produce a higher level of suffering and massive displacement).⁵⁶

1.1.2 The 21st century and the new instruments

More recently, there has been an increase in the complaints against the refugees' protection system in consequence of the growth of the political and civil discourse against them.⁵⁷

At the same time, it is also possible to observe an enlargement of some of the UNHCR's competencies, especially in the area of advocacy with different actors. For example, the UNHCR started to be able to negotiate directly with the groups or people that hold the effective power in a country, even if they are not the government that is internationally recognised.⁵⁸

During the General Assembly of 19 September 2016, the Heads of State and Government and high representatives were invited for a Summit⁵⁹ to discuss the large movements of refugees and

⁵³ Document prepared by the UNHCR, but discussed and approved at the Meeting on Refugees and Displaced Persons in South-East Asia. UN General Assembly, "Meeting on Refugees and Displaced Persons in South-East Asia, convened by the Secretary-General of the United Nations at Geneva, on 20 and 21 July 1979, and subsequent developments: Report of the Secretary-General" (7 November 1979) A/34/627, Para 13-15.

⁵⁴ Feller (n 12), p 133.

⁵⁵ Feller (n 12), p. 134.

⁵⁶ Feller (n 12), p. 134; Lydia DePillis, Kulwant Saluja and Denise Lu, "A visual guide to 75 years of major refugee crises around the world", *The Washington Post* (Washington, 21 December 2015).

⁵⁷ Mike Berry, Inaki Garcia-Blanco and Kerry Moore, "Press Coverage of the Refugee and Migrant Crisis in the EU: A Content Analysis of Five European Countries" (Report prepared for the United Nations High Commission for Refugees, UNHCR, December 2015), p 10-12.

⁵⁸ Cierco (n 9), p 88.

⁵⁹ United Nations, "UN Summit for Refugees and Migrants 2016",

<https://refugeesmigrants.un.org/summit> accessed 08/05/2019.



migrants. In this Summit, a plan that addressed the large movements of refugees and migrants was signed: the New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants.

The New York Declaration intended to be a milestone for international solidarity regarding refugees and migrations. For that, the signatory states pledged to improve their own national and regional protection and to promote durable solutions, particularly increasing the support to the asylum communities and sharing, in a better way, the responsibilities.

With the objective to develop the commitments⁶⁰ set out in the New York Declaration and to address the issue of the large movements of refugees and migrants, the High Commissioner for Refugees had the responsibility to draft the Global Compact on Refugees.⁶¹⁶²

This Compact has two parts: (i) the comprehensive response,⁶³ especially focused on the reception and admission issues, support for the immediate or continued necessities of the refugees, support for the countries with significant rates of asylum, and the development of durable solutions;⁶⁴ and (ii) the programme of action to facilitate the implementation of the comprehensive response to the needs of the refugees and countries particularly affected by a large number of refugees, through burden- and responsibility-sharing agreements and the contributions to specific areas of action (health, education, etc.) in host countries and, in some cases, in countries of origin as well.⁶⁵

Contrary to the Geneva Convention, the New York Declaration and the Global Compact on Refugees are non-binding documents and do not impose new obligations on states; rather, they invite the signatory states to commit themselves to the current obligations.

⁶⁰ Early prevention of crisis situations; preventive diplomacy; prevention and peaceful resolution of conflicts; greater coordination of humanitarian, development and peacebuilding efforts; promotion of the rule of law at the national and international levels; protection of human rights; address movements caused by poverty, instability, marginalisation and exclusion; address movements caused by lack of development and economic opportunities; cooperation among countries of origin/nationality, transit and destination; New York Declaration.

⁶¹ Global Compact on Refugees (adopted on 17 December 2018) Supplement No. 12 (A/73/12 (Part II).

⁶² At the same time, the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration was also produced (adopted on 19 December 2018) (A/RES/73/195). In this case, it was drafted through a process of intergovernmental negotiations.

⁶³ This part is divided into measures during the "reception and admission", the "support for immediate and ongoing needs", the "support for host countries and communities" and the "durable solutions"; Global Compact on Refugees. ⁶⁴ New York Declaration, Annex I.

⁶⁵ Global Compact on Refugees.



1.2 European level

In this subchapter, I will analyse the key moments and legal documents regarding the evolution of the European asylum system in order to gain a broader understanding of where the SCO and STC concepts have emerged. I also seek to understand how the relationship between the Member States inside the EU framework normally functions.

It will be impossible for me to analyse all of the crucial moments of the history related to the migration and refugee issues in the European context. I will therefore start the analysis in the 1980s since this was the period when cooperation between the member states in the asylum area started.

1.2.1 Intergovernmental cooperation

At the European level, the general approach follows the trends we have observed globally. In the first phase, the European countries proactively defended the protection of refugees. However, in the second phase (namely since the 1980s), a sovereignty perspective prevailed against a more forward-looking perspective regarding the protection of refugees' human rights.

Migration and asylum policies can be divided into two different domains: on the one hand, the internal level, and on the other hand, the external level.

Regarding the movement of European citizens within Europe, it is possible to see a clear gradual abolishment of internal borders, especially with the Schengen Agreement⁶⁶⁶⁷ and the creation of the Single Market through the Single European Act.⁶⁸⁶⁹ The concern was the establishment of a free movement space for Europeans.

⁶⁶ The Schengen acquis – Agreement between the Governments of the States of the Benelux Economic Union, the Federal Republic of Germany and the French Republic on the gradual abolition of checks at their common borders (14 April 1985) OJ L 239 (Schengen Agreement).

⁶⁷ Agreement signed on 14 June 1985, where European countries commit themselves to abolishing their national borders in order to create a Europe without borders and an extended control of the external borders. On 19 June 1990, the Convention that implemented the Schengen Agreement was signed. This Convention addresses issues such as the abolition of internal border controls, procedures for issuing uniform visa and creation of a single database (Schengen Information System). However, the implementation of the Schengen Area (France, Germany, Belgium, Luxemburg, Netherlands, Portugal and Spain) only occurred on 26 March 1995. In May 1999, the Treaty of Amsterdam incorporated this Agreement into the legal framework of the EU. Schengen Visa Info, "Schengen Agreement" (Schengen Visa Information, 18 October 2018), <<u>https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/schengen-agreement/</u>> accessed 9/05/2019.

⁶⁸ Single European Act (28 February 1986) OJ L 169.



In addition to the elimination of the internal borders, the Member States also agreed on "[...] the need for 'compensatory measures' in the field of immigration, asylum and external border control policies."70

In the 1980s and 1990s, due to the significant growth in the number of people fleeing the Balkan conflicts and the end of the Soviet Union,⁷¹ the European countries feared a loss of control over migration. Consequently, they called for common measures to control these masses of people through intergovernmental cooperation.⁷² This call was also a response to the increase in national jurisdictional constraints⁷³ on national restrictive asylum measures, especially focused on controlling the discretionary powers of the administration.⁷⁴

The dichotomy between state sovereignty and the obligation to protect refugees and asylumseekers is always present, and Lisa Heschl, recalling the position of James Hollifield, explains the rationale behind this dichotomy: "State sovereignty seeks to promote specifically-defined citizen rights and national migration interests, whereas human and refugee rights commitments espouse a universal application of entitlements. When juxtaposed, the two elements might conflict: states argue that the protection of citizen rights requires restrictive asylum and migration policies. However, self-imposed human and refugee rights commitments confine the development and implementation of those policies."75 The author also adds that the same conflict or even a more acute one happens at the European level since there is a tension between the supranational sovereignty of the EU and the sovereignty of the Member States.⁷⁶

⁶⁹ Through the Single European Act (SEA), approved on 28 February 1986 in Brussels and entered into force on 1 July 1987, which established European Political Cooperation. Its provisions extended the Union's powers, improved the decision-making capacity of the Council of Ministers and increased the role of the European Parliament. Ina Sokolska, "Developments up to the Single European Act" (Fact Sheets on the European Union, October 2018), <http://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/en/FTU 1.1.2.pdf> accessed 21/03/2019.

⁷⁰ Virginie Guiraudon, "European Integration and Migration Policy: Vertical Policy-making as Venue Shopping" (June 2000), 38(2), Journal of Common Market Studies, p 254.

⁷¹ Lisa Heschl, Protecting the Rights of Refugees Beyond European Borders – Establishing Extraterritorial Legal Responsibilities (Intersentia, 2018), p 16.

⁷² Heschl (n 71), p 17.

⁷³ The decisions of the national courts, based on domestic constitutional principles, general legal principles, national jurisprudence and laws and international legal instruments, were systematically preventing the increase in the restrictions of the rights and safeguards of the asylum-seekers and refugees. Guiraudon, (n 70), p 258 and 259. ⁷⁴ Guiraudon (n 70), p 254.

⁷⁵ Heschl (n 71), p 17.

⁷⁶ Heschl (n 71), p 18.



The first important document adopted on the European stage was the Dublin Convention⁷⁷ in 1990. It established the criteria to determine which state is responsible for analysing the application for asylum in the European Community.⁷⁸

1.2.2 The institutionalisation of the European asylum system

The Treaty of Maastricht,⁷⁹ signed in 1993, brought intergovernmental cooperation on asylum to the EU's institutional framework under the recently created third pillar on Justice and Home Affairs, permitting to call for the European Community's international obligations in the area of immigration and asylum.⁸⁰ It is important, nevertheless, to underline that the cooperation and forums outside of the EU framework continued to happen, like the Intergovernmental Consultations on Asylum, Refugees and Migration Policies, the Ad Hoc Committee of experts for identity documents and the movement of persons, UNHCR, etc.⁸¹

On 1 December 1992, two resolutions and one conclusion were adopted by the Council:⁸² (i) the Resolution on Manifestly Unfounded Applications for Asylum,⁸³ which determined in which cases an application can be considered as manifestly unfounded and, consequently, subjected to an accelerated procedure; (ii) the Resolution on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries.⁸⁴ which established the criteria to determine which countries can be considered safe, allowing the return of persons to these countries; and (iii) the Conclusions on Countries in Which There is Generally no Serious Risk of Persecution,⁸⁵ which established the

⁷⁷ Convention determining the State responsible for examining applications for asylum lodged in one of the Member States of the European Communities (adopted 15 June 1990, entered into force 1 September 1997) Document 41997A0819(01) (Dublin Regulation).

⁷⁸ Dublin Convention, Articles 3-9.

⁷⁹ Treaty of Maastricht on European Union (adopted 7 October 1993, entered into force 1 November 1993) OJ C 191 (Treaty of Maastricht). ⁸⁰ Treaty of Maastricht, Article K.1 and K.2.

⁸¹ Treaty of Maastricht, Articles K.7; Guiraudon (n 70), p 255-256.

⁸² Stefan Ericsson, "Asylum in the EU Member States" (January 2000), Civil Liberties Series LIBE 108 EN.

⁸³ Council Resolution of 30 November 1992 on Manifestly Unfounded Applications for Asylum (Resolution on Manifestly Unfounded Applications for Asylum).

⁸⁴ Council Resolution of 30 November 1992 on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries (Resolution on Safe Third Countries).

Conclusions of 30 November 1992 on Countries in Which There is Generally No Serious Risk of Persecution (Conclusion on safe countries of Origin).



guidelines to determine whether a country is generally safe to their population and, consequently, consider applications for asylum from individuals from those countries manifestly unfounded.

Also, during the period of validity of the Treaty of Maastricht, among other documents, the Council Resolution on Minimum Guarantees for Asylum Procedures (20 June 1995) was adopted, enumerating the guarantees of the asylum seekers during the asylum procedures in the EU, and the Joint Position on the Harmonized Application of the Definition of the Term Refugee⁸⁶ was approved by the Council (4 March 1996), focusing primarily on the meaning of the concept of persecution: its definition, grounds, and origins (state persecution, persecution by third parties and civil war or internal armed conflicts).

Nonetheless, the process of harmonization remained limited, with only five important documents being approved. This can be explained by the need for unanimity in the Council.⁸⁷

It was only with the Treaty of Amsterdam,⁸⁸ in 1997, that the Members States⁸⁹ transferred some of their sovereign powers⁹⁰ in the areas of migration and asylum to the EU.⁹¹ This was caused by the agreement, between the Member States, that the migration and asylum procedures in the European Community were too vague, ill-defined or different definitions were tolerated.⁹²

With the transfer of powers from the Member States to the EU, European institutions acquired the competence to draw up legislation in the asylum area at European level. For the first five years, the Commission should share the right of initiative with the Member States, and the decision should be unanimously approved in the Council after consultation of the European Parliament.⁹³ Following the transitional period, the Commission assumed the responsibility to propose legislation alone.⁹⁴

 ⁸⁶ Harmonised application of the definition of the term "refugee" under the Geneva Convention (2 April 1996) OJ L 63.
 ⁸⁷ Treaty of Maastricht, Article K.9; Guiraudon (n 70), p 256.

⁸⁸ Treaty of Amsterdam (adopted 2 October 1997, entered into force 1 May 1999).

⁸⁹ With the exception of the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland, which stayed out of the new Area of Freedom, Security and Justice. Treaty of Amsterdam, Protocol on the position of the United Kingdom and Ireland.

⁹⁰ "Within five years, the Council should unanimously adopt measures on asylum, refugees and displaced persons, on the absence of any controls on persons crossing internal borders (both EU citizens and third country nationals), on the crossing of external borders (including rules on visas for intended stays of no more than three months), and on the freedom of movement of third country nationals within the EU, conditional upon the duration of their stay being shorter than three months." Guiraudon (n 70), p 253.

⁹¹ Treaty of Amsterdam, Article 73k.

⁹² Heschl (n 71), p 18.

⁹³ Treaty of Amsterdam, Article 730(1).

⁹⁴ Treaty of Amsterdam, Article 730(2).



In 1998, in the Vienna Council, the action plan for the establishment of an area of Freedom, Security, and Justice⁹⁵ was adopted in order to find common answers to immigration and asylum issues. At this time, the High-Level Working Group on Asylum and Migration was created.⁹⁶

With the Tampere Programme,⁹⁷ the Common European Asylum System (CEAS) was established, which was implemented in two phases.⁹⁸ In the first period (1999–2004), the EU should adopt the common minimum standards for the short term, and in the second period (2005–2010), the EU should create a proper common procedure and a uniform status for the asylum-seekers. This harmonisation aimed to prevent secondary movements or "asylum shopping".⁹⁹

In the first phase, the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for the examination of the asylum applications¹⁰⁰ and the EURODAC Regulation¹⁰¹ were recast. In this period, the common minimum standards for the reception of asylum-seekers,¹⁰² the qualification for international protection and the nature of the protection granted¹⁰³ and the procedures for granting and withdrawing refugee status¹⁰⁴ were also defined.

The second phase started with the Hague Programme¹⁰⁵ in 2005. Ten priorities of the EU were established to strengthen the area of Freedom, Security and Justice,¹⁰⁶ including the search for a new balance to deal with regular and irregular migration (notably through the establishment of further cooperation with third countries for the readmission and return agreements, and the creation

⁹⁵ Presidency Conclusions of the Vienna European Council (11 and 12 December 1998), Para. 83.

⁹⁶ Presidency Conclusion's of the Vienna European Council, Para. 85.

⁹⁷ Presidency Conclusions of Tampere European Council (15 and 16 October 1999).

⁹⁸ European Parliament, "Migration and Asylum: a challenge for Europe" (Fact Sheets on the European Union, 18 June 2018), p 4.

⁹⁹ Tineke Strik, "The Global Approach to Migration and Mobility" (written 21 December 2017, published 23 February 2018), 5(2), *Groningen Journal of International Law*, p 311.

¹⁰⁰ Council Regulation (EC) No 343/2003 of 18 February 2003 establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an asylum application lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national (2003) OJ L 50 (Dublin II Regulation).

¹⁰¹ Commission Regulation (EC) No 1560/2003 of 2 September 2003 laying down detailed rules for the application of Council Resolution (EC) No 343/2003 establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an asylum application lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national (2003) OJ L 222/3 (EURODAC Regulation).

¹⁰² Council Directive 2003/9/EC of 27 January 2003 laying down minimum standards for the reception of asylum seekers (2003) OJ L 31/18 (2003 Reception Conditions Directive).

¹⁰³ Council Directive 2003/109/EC of 25 November 2003 concerning the status of third-country nationals who are long-term residents (2003) OJ L 16/44 (2003 Qualification Directive).

¹⁰⁴ Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005 on minimum standards on procedures in Member States for granting and withdrawing refugee status (2005) OJ L 326/13 (2005 AP Directive).

¹⁰⁵ The Hague Programme: Strengthening Freedom, Security and Justice in the European Union (3 March 2005) 2005/C 53/01 (Hague Programme).

¹⁰⁶ "The Hague Programme: 10 priorities for the next five years" (Summaries of EU Legislation, 13 November 2009).



of the Solidarity and Management of Migration Flows Framework Programme¹⁰⁷), the development of integrated external management borders (setting up the Frontex Agency and the visa information system) and setting up a common asylum procedure.

In 2005, the EU formulated the framework of the EU External Migration and Asylum Policy, the Global Approach to Migration (GAM).¹⁰⁸ It was further developed in 2007 and 2008, and, in 2011, it was renewed and renamed as Global Approach to Migration and Mobility (GAMM).¹⁰⁹ The GAMM was "an attempt to create a comprehensive approach to migration by involving third countries and other policy areas."110

The Global Approach was thought to be balanced, comprehensive and structured on four pillars:¹¹¹ (i) to promote a better organisation of regular migration and well-managed mobility; (ii) to prevent and combat irregular migration and eradicate human trafficking; (iii) to maximize the impact of migration and mobility on development; and (iv) to promote international protection. The GAMM should be a migrant/refugee-centred policy; in other words, the human rights of migrants and refugees should be considered as an overarching issue, and it should benefit all parties (Member States, partner countries, migrants and refugees).¹¹²

The fourth pillar suggests that the investment in border control and sustainable protection occur at the same time, since, typically, border control investments have immediate impacts and sustainable protection implies long-term policies and measures. However, according to an Amnesty International report, "Amnesty International research has shown that the demands being placed on third countries to prevent irregular departures to Europe put refugees, asylum-seekers and migrants in those countries at risk of prolonged and arbitrary detention, refoulement, and ill-treatment."113

¹⁰⁷ Commission, "Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament establishing a framework programme on Solidarity and the Management of Migration Flows for the period 2007-2013" (Communication) COM(2005) 123 final/2.

European Council, Global Approach to Migration 2005 COM(2007)247 (December 2005).

¹⁰⁹ Commission, "The Global Approach to Migration and Mobility" (Communication) COM(2011) 743 final; Commission, "Global Approach to Migration and Mobility (GAMM)" (Migration and Home Affairs), https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/content/global-approach-migration-and-mobility-gamm accessed 06/07/2019, note 1 and 3.

¹¹⁰ Strik (n 99), p 310.

¹¹¹ Migration and Home Affairs, "Global Approach to Migration and Mobility", <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-</u> affairs/what-we-do/policies/international-affairs/global-approach-to-migration en> accessed $\overline{23/03/2019}$. ¹¹² Strik (n 99), p 317.

¹¹³ Amnesty International, "The human cost of Fortress Europe: Human Rights violations against migrants and refugees at Europe's borders" (9 July 2014), p 13.



Moreover, the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the Human Rights of Migrants has criticised the GAMM: "[...] many agreements reached in the framework of the Approach have weak standing within international law and generally lack monitoring and accountability measures, which allow for power imbalances between countries and for the politics of the day to determine implementation." He added that "[t]here are few signs that mobility partnerships have resulted in additional human rights or development benefits, as projects have unclear specifications and outcomes. The overall focus on security and the lack of policy coherence within the Approach as a whole creates a risk that any benefits arising from human rights and development projects will be overshadowed by the secondary effects of more security-focused policies."¹¹⁴

By 2008, the European Pact on Immigration and Asylum¹¹⁵ was adopted to be the foundation of EU immigration and asylum policies. The European Border Surveillance System was created and new tasks were assigned to the Frontex Agency.¹¹⁶

The Treaty of Lisbon,¹¹⁷ adopted in 2007, marks the moment when the asylum measures started, in practice, the construction of a common system of uniform status and uniform procedures. The Treaty of Lisbon established the principle of solidarity and fair sharing of responsibility.¹¹⁸ Regarding jurisdictional aspects, the jurisdiction of the Court of Justice of the EU (CJEU) was expanded to all fields of migration and asylum, and the lower courts of the Member States started to be able to seek preliminary rulings (instead of only the higher courts).¹¹⁹

In December 2009, the Stockholm Programme¹²⁰ was adopted, in which the objective of "establishing a common area of protection and solidarity based on a common asylum procedure and a uniform status for those granted international protection" was reaffirmed.¹²¹

Between 2012 and 2013, the recasts of the EURODAC Regulation¹²² and the Dublin III Regulation¹²³ and the recasts of the Qualification Directive,¹²⁴ the Reception Conditions¹²⁵ and the

¹¹⁴ UN Human Rights Council, "Report of the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants: Banking on mobility over a generation: follow-up to the regional study on the management of the external borders of the European Union and its impact on the human rights of migrants" (8 May 2015) A/HRC/29/36.

¹¹⁵ European Pact on Immigration and Asylum (24 September 2008) 13189/08 ASIM 68.

¹¹⁶ "European Pact on Immigration and Asylum" (Summaries of EU Legislation, 11 September 2014).

¹¹⁷ Treaty of Lisbon (adopted 13 December 2007, entered into force 1 December 2009) OJ C 306.

¹¹⁸ Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, Articles 78 and 80.

¹¹⁹ Heschl (n 71), p 19.

¹²⁰ The Stockholm Programme – An open and secure Europe serving and protecting the citizens (2 December 2009) 16484/1/09 REV 1 JAI 866 + ADD 1.

¹²¹ European Parliament, "Migration and Asylum" (n 98), p 5.
¹²² Regulation (EU) No 603/2013 of 26 June 2013 OJ L 180/1 (EURODAC Regulation).



Asylum Procedures Directive¹²⁶ were adopted. They should have been transposed into the laws of Member States by July 2015 (the peak of the host crisis of 2015), in order to harmonise the legislation inside of the EU. This process, however, fell short of expectations since some of the Member States did not transpose the directives into national legislation, or did not do so correctly.¹²⁷

1.2.3 The 2015 crisis

In May of 2015, the Commission established the European Agenda on Migration¹²⁸ to respond to the migratory and asylum pressure and the crisis of the previous system.¹²⁹ This new Agenda is a political document that contains the priorities of the EU in the area of migration and asylum for the next years and aims to construct a coherent and comprehensive approach to addressing the challenges that came with migration.

The European Agenda on Migration is divided between, on the one hand, giving a prompt response to the challenges of migration and to the immediate consequences of the failure of the common European policy, and on the other, establishing the main pillars that should help answer the same problems but in the medium/long term.

The six needs chosen to be immediately addressed were:¹³⁰ (i) saving lives at sea and increasing the budget for the Frontex joint operations *Triton* and *Poseidon* in order to expand their capability and geographical scope; (ii) targeting criminal smuggling networks, especially identifying, capturing and destroying the vessels used by smugglers, identifying and targeting smugglers, and

¹²³ Regulation (EU) NO 604/2013 of 26 June 2013 OJ Ç 180/31 (Dublin III Regulation).

¹²⁴ Directive 2011/95/EU of 13 December 2011 OJ L 337/9 (Qualification Directive).

¹²⁵ Directive 2013/33/EU of 26 June 2013 OJ L 180/96 (Reception Conditions Directive).

¹²⁶ Directive 2013/32/EU of 26 June 2013 OJ L 180/60 (2013 AP Directive).

¹²⁷ "The European Commission adopted today 40 infringement decisions against several Member States (see table in Annex) for failing to fully implement legislation making up the Common European Asylum System."; Commission, "More Responsibility in managing the refugee crisis: European Commission adopts 40 infringement decisions to make European Asylum System work" (Press Release, 23 September 2015).

¹²⁸ Commission, "A European Agenda on Migrations" (Communication) COM(2015) 240 final (13 May 2015).

¹²⁹ "Despite the common perception that the doubling in asylum applications was the root cause of the ensuing situation of crisis in the EU (*BBC News*, 2016a), it was only a trigger. In fact, the increase of applications only uncovered persistent dysfunctionalities and shortcomings of the Common European Asylum System (CEAS). The so-called European 'refugee crisis' should therefore more accurately be termed a crisis of the CEAS"; Arne Niemann and Natascha Zaun, "EU Refugee Policies and Politics in Times of Crisis: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives" (2018), 56(1), JCMS, p 3.

¹³⁰ European Parliament, "Migration and Asylum" (n 98), p 3-6.



strengthening the *Joint Maritime Information Operation (JOT MARE*); (iii) responding to the high numbers of individual arrivals to the same countries with relocation systems; (iv) formulating a common approach to granting protection to displaced people in need of protection within the resettlement system; (v) working with third countries to deal with high levels of migration and asylum, primarily through the establishment of regional development and protection programmes with countries that support the weight of the displaced migrants and refugees, the creation of centres in countries of origin and transit to help inform the migrants and refugees, the offer of assisted return options for irregular migrants, the transformation of migration issues into a competence of the Common Security and Defence Policy Missions (CSDP) that work with border management, and the provision of humanitarian, stabilisation and development assistance in countries of origin and transit, namely Libya, Syria, Lebanon, Jordan, Turkey and Iraq; and (vi) using the EU's tools to help the Member States placed in the EU's borders, especially with the hotspot approach and the increase of the emergency fund.

In relation to the need for medium/long-term changes, the European Agenda has established four pillars:¹³¹ (i) reducing the incentives for irregular migration, addressing the root causes, fighting against smugglers and traffickers, and returning irregular migrants; (ii) better border management (focus on saving lives and securing external borders) and strengthening the capacity of Frontex and of third countries to manage their borders; (iii) reinforcing Europe's duty to protect, through a robust common asylum policy, by establishing a monitoring and evaluation system for a coherent Common European Asylum System, and creating guidelines for standards on reception conditions and on asylum procedures, fighting against abuses of the asylum system, strengthening the SCO provisions and revising the Dublin Regulation (Dublin IV Regulation); and (iv) establishing a new policy on legal migration.

To accomplish what was established in the European Agenda on Migration between 2015 and 2016, the European Commission drafted proposals to change several of the most important EU legal documents.¹³² Until now, however, the proposals have not been approved by the Council for lack of agreement among the representatives of the Member States and between the Council and the European Parliament, about which should be the right path to choose (more centred on the

¹³¹ A European Agenda on Migration, p 6-17.

¹³² Transforming the Qualification Directive, the Reception Conditions Directive and the Asylum Procedures Directive into regulations (directly applicable in the EU law of the Member States) and Changes in the Dublin and in the EURODAC Regulations.



protection of the rights of migrants and refugees, or rather on the protection of the external borders of the EU).

Despite the impossibility of a real revision of the EU legal system regarding migration and asylum, there have been some significant developments since 2016. Externally, the EU has been able, through its international relations with third countries,¹³³ to exert political pressure, give financial incentives and provide military assistance to third countries,¹³⁴ which reinforced the externalisation of borders and the control of the flow of persons.¹³⁵ The EU-Turkey Statement (18 March 2016)¹³⁶ is the best known and most complete of all, but it is a paradigmatic example of how, in recent years, preoccupations with the security and border control approaches have been supplementing the protection of the rights of refugees approaches.¹³⁷ Another characteristic of this type of cooperation is that it is being negotiated through intergovernmental processes (and not through the EU framework), which means that any agreements are governance arrangements; the European Parliament cannot participate in the decision-making, and the ECJ does not have jurisdiction.¹³⁸

Internally, the Emergency Support Mechanism for the Refugee Crisis (which enables the EU to provide an immediate response to specific situations)¹³⁹ and the Emergency Relocation Scheme (to relocate refugees from Italy and Greece to another EU Member State)¹⁴⁰ were adopted.

¹³³ Andrew Geddes and Peter Scholten, "Towards Common EU Migration and Asylum Policies?" (ch), *The Politics of Migration and Immigration in Europe* (2nd edition, SAGE, 2016), p 164.

¹³⁴ "Member States have gained a reputation for informalizing return co-operation in the Mediterranean region, for instance by embedding return co-operation into broader strategic frameworks of co-operation or other types of arrangements (such as police co-operation agreements and memoranda of understanding) [...]"; Peter Slominski and Florian Trauner, "How do Member States Return Unwanted Migrants? The Strategic (non-)use of 'Europe' during the Migration Crisis" (2018), 56(1), *JCMS*, p 110.

¹³⁵ "According to European parliament president Tajani, this resulted in a 95% drop in crossings through Niger, a key transition point for migrants on the way to Libya [...]"; Matteo Villa, Rob Gruijters and Elias Steinhilper, "Outsourcing European Border Control: Recent Trends in Departures, Deaths and Search and Rescue Activities in the Central Mediterranean" (Blog of Faculty of Law of University of Oxford, 11 September 2018).

¹³⁶ "[A]ll new irregular migrants and asylum seekers arriving from Turkey to the Greek islands and whose applications for asylum have been declared inadmissible should be returned to Turkey." Ignazio Corrao, "EU-Turkey Statement & Action Plan" (Legislative Train Schedule: Towards a New Policy on Migration, 20 February 2019).

¹³⁷ These agreements raise important questions, namely whether third countries will be only responsible for all persons who are unable to reach European territory and, if so, whether they have the capacity to support all the costs of hosting these persons; Geddes and Scholten (n 133), p 164.

¹³⁸ Slominski and Trauner (n 134), p 104, 108-110.

¹³⁹ José Manuel Fernandes, "Emergency support mechanism for the refugee crisis" (Legislative Train Schedule: Towards a New Policy on Migration, 20 February 2019).

¹⁴⁰ Ska Keller, "1st Emergency Recolocation Scheme" (Legislative Train Schedule: Towards a New Policy on Migration, 20 February 2019).



To conclude, it seems to be fair to affirm that, in the case of the current path of the EU in the asylum area, "[r]ather than providing a sustainable response to the complex challenges involved in irregular migration, Europe has outsourced the management of its migration 'problem' to countries like Libya and Niger, where violence and death often remains hidden from the public view."¹⁴¹ This is a step backward from the positive developments regarding the increase of the safeguards and rights of the asylum-seekers and refugees until 2015.

¹⁴¹ Villa, Gruijters and Steinhilper (no 135), conclusion.



2. Safe country concepts

In the last three decades, the number of people in movement (forcedly or voluntarily) increased, as we saw above. This tendency has been obliging the states and regional or international organisations to find new answers. The solutions suggested and implemented have been different, depending on who is in movement, the motives for the movement and the host countries.

Independently of the solutions concretely adopted in each case, the international community and the states have understood that it is not possible to come up with only national or even regional solutions for asylum issues.¹⁴² In other words, international cooperation and collective responses are crucial in this area.

The EU has, today, competence to regulate in the asylum, subsidiary protection and temporary protection area in consequence of Article 78 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. According to this Article, the EU shall develop a common policy to guarantee an appropriate status to third-country nationals in need of international protection and ensure compliance with the principle of non-refoulement. To accomplish these objectives, according with the paragraph 2 of the same Article, the EU has to adopt measures for a common European asylum system, what includes common procedures for granting and withdrawing of uniform asylum status and the establishment of partnership and cooperation with third countries to manage inflows of people.

As seen previously, some states have attempted to evade their international responsibilities towards asylum-seekers and refugees. One of the ways used to accomplish unaccountability, by some states and regional organisations, is the establishment of bilateral or multilateral agreements to externalise borders, preventing asylum-seekers from reaching the territory of these states.¹⁴³ Some examples in the EU context are the EU-Turkey Statement,¹⁴⁴ the Memorandum of Understanding

¹⁴² Proof of this is the signature of the New York Declaration and the Global Compact on Refugees.

¹⁴³ Annick Pijnenburg, Thomas Gammeltoft-Hansen and Conny Rijken, "Controlling Migration through International Cooperation" (29 November 2018), 20(4), *European Journal of Migration and Law*, p 366.

¹⁴⁴ Council, "EU-Turkey Statement" (Press Releases, 18 March 2016).



between Italy and Libya¹⁴⁵¹⁴⁶ and, more recently, agreements to establish regional disembarkation platforms.¹⁴⁷¹⁴⁸

Another approach that has also been used is the adoption of "safe country" concepts. Generally speaking, states and regional organisations have used these to reduce the number of applications for asylum they have to examine completely and to reduce the number of international protection applications granted.

The safe countries notion includes distinctive concepts; the two most notable are the safe country of origin (SCO) and the safe third country (STC).¹⁴⁹ The first is used to locate the unfounded applications based on the general safety of the country of origin, and the second focuses on the determination of the unfounded applications when the asylum-seeker could have found protection in another country.¹⁵⁰

¹⁴⁵ Memorandum of understanding on cooperation in the fields of development, the fight against illegal immigration, human trafficking and fuel smuggling and on reinforcing the security of borders between the State of Libya and the Italian Republic (2 February 201) (Memorandum of Understanding between Italy and Libya).

¹⁴⁶ Anja Palm, "The Italy-Libya Memorandum of Understanding: The baseline of a policy approach aimed at closing all doors to Europe?" (*EU Immigration and Asylum Law and Policy*, published on 16 May 2017 and last update on 13 September 2017).

¹⁴⁷ Commission, "Migration: Regional Disembarkation arrangements: follow-up to the European Council Conclusions of 28 June 2018" (Factsheet).

¹⁴⁸ Regarding the disembarkation platforms, it is important to mention that the member states of the African Union have declared their opposition to this solution since it was approved in the European Council on 28 June 2018, arguing that it violates international law and they are afraid that what are "de facto detention centres" would lead to "modern-day slave markets". ECRE, "EU-ALS Summit Overshadowed by AU Document Thwarting EU Plans for 'Disembarkation Platforms" (ECRE Weekly Bulletin, 1 March 2019).

¹⁴⁹ Other close concepts are "first country of asylum" (when another country has already granted international protection to the asylum-seeker) and "super safe European countries".

¹⁵⁰ Cathryn Costello, "Safe Country? Says Who?" (2016), 28, International Journal of Refugee Law, p 605-606.



2.1 Safe country of origin (SCO)

After the analysis of the general evolution at the global and European levels and of the most important legal documents and policies regarding migration and asylum, it is time to focus on the SCO concept and to understand how it has been included in European legislation.

This subchapter aims to analyse the role of the SCO concept and how it relates to the international obligations towards the asylum-seekers and refugees and if the application of the concept in European legislation has led to an increase in the protection of the rights of asylum seekers or, on the contrary, to a reduction of their protection.

2.1.1 Meaning of the SCO concept

Safe country of origin is a concept commonly used to describe countries whose people should, in principle, not receive international protection since those countries are generally considered to be safe. In other words, the concept allows the establishment of a presumption of safety when the application of asylum-seekers that come from SCO is analysed.¹⁵¹

The particular characteristics of the SCO concept in various countries are not similar. The distinctions can vary regarding the criterion that was established to evaluate a country, the time limits of the process, the rights that will be restricted or limited, or even the safeguards that cannot be derogated.

The application of the SCO concept always implies a reduction of the procedural safeguards of the applicants, even when the reduction does not put asylum-seekers in danger. The reduction of procedural safeguards is a direct consequence of the diminution of the time-limits of the processes and the establishment of the presumption of safety. It is relevant, however, to highlight that the restriction of the safeguards does not immediately imply the violation of asylum rights but does raise the likelihood of this happening.

¹⁵¹ Matthew Hunt, "The Safe Country of Origin Concept in European Asylum Law: Past, Present and Future" (2014), 26(4), *International Journal of Refugee Law*, p 502.



Therefore, a central issue concerning this topic is to understand what needs to be established in legislation and the practices that enable applicants to rebut safety presumptions without placing excessive weight on these elements.

Traditionally, the inclusion of the SCO concept in legal systems was justified by the need to settle asylum procedures more efficiently through the reduction of the number of asylum applications analysed with complete processes. More recently, it is also typically associated with the securitisation of the migration and asylum policies and with the externalisation of borders.

2.1.2 Relevant principles

The use of the SCO concept has defenders and opponents. Here we will review some of the principles that are typically associated with its defence or its criticisms. On the side of the defence of the SCO concept are the principle of efficiency and the principle of security. On the other side, the criticisms are fundamentally based on the violation of the principle of a just and fair process and of the principle of non-refoulement.

The principle of efficiency is originally associated with economics, and it aims to achieve the best possible result, with the lowest costs and the least time possible. When applying this principle to the asylum system and, more concretely, to the asylum application procedures, the states and the regional organizations aim to be able to assess the highest number of asylum applications at the lowest cost and in the shortest time possible.

The relevance of the SCO concept is easily understood in this context of necessity to find solutions to reduce costs and the resources used, especially in moments of significant growth of the number of applications. So, by allowing the presumption of safety for some countries, the SCO concept allows the applications submitted by persons from these countries to accelerate procedures, reducing the number and weight of asylum applications.

This argument has been generally accepted to justify the use of the SCO. The UNHCR, for example, in different documents, also expressed this acceptance, provided that the fundamental safeguards are guaranteed.¹⁵²

¹⁵² See, for example, UNHCR, "Better Protecting Refugees in the EU and Globally: UNHCR's proposals to rebuild trust through better management, partnership and solidarity" (December 2016), footnote 19.



The principle of security is, however, more controversial than the first one. Article 51 of UN Charter¹⁵³ establishes that states have the right to defend their territories and their population against enemies or threats.

The use of this principle, in the context of the SCO, commonly occurs when migrants, refugees and asylum-seekers are seen as a threat to national security or the stability of the host countries.¹⁵⁴ This line of reasoning is more critical since it calls into question the necessity for international protection of a large number of people.

On the opposite side, the principle of a just and fair process implies that, in the context of asylum procedures, the applicants have the right to have their application evaluated through a complete process,¹⁵⁵ and to have access to all the procedural safeguards established by law.¹⁵⁶

When it is established the safety presumption, the SCO concept places the asylum-seekers that come from those countries in a disadvantageous position vis-à-vis the other asylum-seekers, putting in danger the respect for the principle of a fair and just process, considering that the responsibility to present evidence will rest only on the applicants, the less time to rebut the safety presumption and, frequently, the further difficulties in the access to remedies.

Finally, the last principle is the principle of non-refoulement. It is the cornerstone of the international asylum system and forbids a host country to send back the asylum-seeker or the refugee to the country where he/she would be in danger of persecution, based on race, religion, nationality, membership in a particular social group or political opinion. This principle is fundamental when it comes to the application of the SCO concept.

As said before, the safeguards and rights of applicants are restricted with the employment of this notion; therefore, the asylum-seekers have more difficulty proving that they are in danger in their own countries and in challenging unfavourable decisions. Thus, the additional difficulties increase the possibility of sending persons to countries where they would be in danger of persecution, which would violate the principle of non-refoulement.

¹⁵³ Charter of the United Nations (26 June 1945) (UN Charter).

¹⁵⁴ "Borrowing from familiar populist rhetoric across the global North (and especially Australia), the government unleashed a public relations campaign of demonization of asylum seekers in order to prepare the ground for harsher policies of detention, accelerated determination procedures, immizeration, intensified precarity and family separation of asylum seekers and refugees.", Audrey Macklin, "A safe country to emulate? Canada and the European refugee" (ch), *The Global Reach of European Refugee Law* (2013), Cambridge University Press, p 116.

¹⁵⁵ Notably, the asylum-seekers have the right to have their application evaluated individually and to see the assessment of their request based on the general situation of the country but fundamentally in their concrete situation.

¹⁵⁶ UNHCR, "Better Protecting Refugees in the EU and Globally" (n 152), footnote 19.



The question now is to know if it is possible to achieve a balance between all of these principles and interests in a way that can be acceptable for states and/or regional organisations without calling into question the fundamental human rights and principles of the asylum-seekers and refugees.

2.1.3 SCO in EU legislation

After making a journey through the meaning and principles that underlie the SCO concept, it is time to focus on how the European institutions have established the concept in European legislation. The analysis is accompanied by criticisms to its implementation with the positive aspects and those that violate the rights and guarantees of asylum-seekers as fundamental points.

Because it is impossible to analyse all the aspects, I will focus on the ones that are more relevant to the thesis.

2.1.3.1 The past

The SCO concept originated in Europe. It was first used in the Danish Clause of 1986¹⁵⁷ in order to decrease the number of refugees entering this country from Germany. However, other countries soon adopted similar solutions.¹⁵⁸ Subsequently, the domestic legislation regarding SCO was brought to the European level.¹⁵⁹

Since the beginning, the UNHCR was a critic of the SCO. In 1991, it issued a note¹⁶⁰ in which the concept was analysed. In this document, the UNHCR argued that the application of the SCO concept allows, a priori, the exclusion of an entire group of persons from refugee status, and this is against the spirit and the letter of the 1951 Convention and 1967 Protocol.¹⁶¹ It also did not accept the argument sometimes presented by some countries that this policy encourages countries of origin

¹⁵⁷ After the approval of this legislation, the asylum seekers that arrived in Denmark could be refused entry if they had arrived from countries that, for Denmark, were safe countries. DEMIG (2015) *DEMIG POLICY, version 1.3, Online Edition.* Oxford: International Migration Institute, University of Oxford.

¹⁵⁸ Hunt (n 151), p 504.

¹⁵⁹ Hunt (n 151), p 505.

¹⁶⁰ UNHCR, "Background Note on the Safe Country Concept and Refugee Status" (26 July 1991), EC/SCP/68.

¹⁶¹ UNHCR, "Background Note on the Safe Country Concept" (n 160), Para 5.



to invest in democratisation processes, since the use of "the asylum procedure is inappropriate" to achieve "normalization".¹⁶²

Nonetheless, the UNHCR admits that it can be helpful to show which asylum-seekers do not have valid grounds to ask for protection.¹⁶³ Therefore, in the Background Note, it accepts that countries establish presumptions in relation to certain applicants based on their country of origin, provided those presumptions "are based on verifiable, current assessments of factual situations, are rebuttable and provision is made for the individual, exceptional case".¹⁶⁴

At the EU level, the first formal reference to this concept was in the Council Resolution on Manifestly Unfounded Applications for Asylum and in the Conclusion on Safe Countries of Origin, in 1992, where the Council established that individuals coming from countries classified as SCO would qualify for accelerated procedures.¹⁶⁵

After the Treaty of Amsterdam, the countries more reticent about the harmonisation processes (France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and the United Kingdom) fought for the inclusion of safe countries practices in the first directive regarding asylum procedures.¹⁶⁶ From the start, representatives of relevant organisations in this area made hard criticisms of the solutions that were being discussed by the Member States at the European level.¹⁶⁷

Despite all the recommendations by different regional and international actors, the Council, on 1 December 2005, approved the 2005 AP Directive that aimed to establish minimum procedural standards between the Member States regarding the aspects related to granting and withdrawing refugee status. One of the aspects referred to is the SCO concept.

In this Directive, a definition of SCO was agreed upon and the creation of common¹⁶⁸ and national lists¹⁶⁹ of SCO for assessing asylum applications as unfounded was adopted.¹⁷⁰

¹⁶² UNHCR, "Background Note on the Safe Country Concept" (n 160), Para 6.

¹⁶³ UNHCR, "Background Note on the Safe Country Concept" (n 160), Para 6.

¹⁶⁴ UNHCR, "Background Note on the Safe Country Concept" (n 160), Para 9.

¹⁶⁵ Resolution on Manifestly Unfounded Applications for Asylum, Para 2 and 8.

¹⁶⁶ Hunt (n 151), p 506.

¹⁶⁷ See, for example, Dominic Casciani, "UN warns over EU asylum rules", *BBC News Online* (London, 30 March, 2004); ECRE, Amnesty International, Europe and Central Asia Division Human Rights Watch, Caritas Europa, Churches' Commission for Migrants in Europe, ILGA Europe, Médicins Sans Frontières, Pax Christi International, Save the Children & QCEA, "Call for withdrawal of the Asylum Procedures Directive" (22 March 2004). ¹⁶⁸ 2005 AP Directive, Article 29.

¹⁶⁹ 2005 AP Directive, Article 30.

¹⁷⁰ 2005 AP Directive, Article 23(4)(c)(i).



According to the 2005 AP Directive, a country would be considered safe when, in its territory, there was no general and consistent persecution, torture, inhumane treatment, or punishments, and reasons for indiscriminate violence in situations of armed conflict.¹⁷¹ This evaluation should be made taking into account the applicable laws and regulations, the observance of the rights and freedoms of the ECHR and/or fundamental international legal documents, the respect for the non-refoulement principle and the existence of effective remedies against human rights violations.¹⁷²

In 2008, the European Parliament brought an action before the CJEU challenging the mandatory common list and the provisions for the common list under Article 29 of 2005 AP Directive due to the Council's lack of exclusive competence to adopt this particular norm. The CJEU annulled the referred provisions based on the Council's lack of competence to adopt and amend the common list through a different decision-making procedure than the one established in the Article 67(5) of the Treaty Establishing the European Community.¹⁷³

Besides the question of the common list, other critics were pointed out to this directive. The first criticism concerned the relationship between the concept of SCO and Article 3 of the Geneva Convention and the New York Protocol.¹⁷⁴ Article 3 of the Geneva Convention explicitly prohibits discrimination based on country of origin and the New York Protocol ensures that refugee protection should be everyone's right without "geographical limitations".¹⁷⁵

The SCO concept, however, permitted the rejection of asylum applications when the applicant comes from a country considered to be an SCO. The rejection is therefore based on the nationality of the applicant, which, according to Matthew Hunt, violates the spirit and the letter of the Geneva Convention and the New York Protocol.¹⁷⁶ This discrepancy between European legislation and the international refugee law could be justified, as argued by Matthew Hunt, by the fact that the obligations of the Geneva Convention do not bind the EU directly; instead, the 2005 AP Directive "cites an asylum system based upon the application of the Convention as something the EU has 'agreed to work towards".¹⁷⁷

¹⁷¹ 2005 AP Directive, Annex II.

¹⁷² 2005 AP Directive, Annex II.

¹⁷³ Case C-133/06 European Parliament v Council of the European Union [2008], Para 46-68.

¹⁷⁴ Hunt (n 151), p 510.

¹⁷⁵ Hunt (n 151), p 510.

¹⁷⁶ Hunt (n 151), p 510.

¹⁷⁷ Hunt (n 151), p 510.



Secondly, the derogations to Article 30(1) of the 2005 AP Directive, present in paragraphs 2 and 3 of the same Article, created additional heavy challenges to the safeguards of the asylum-seekers.¹⁷⁸

Paragraph 2 allowed Member States to preserve the provisions related to SCO when they simply determine in these countries persons are generally not subject to "persecution as defined in Article 9 of Directive 2004/883/EC"¹⁷⁹ or to "torture or inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment".¹⁸⁰ On the one hand, this derogation decreased the possibilities of harmonisation of the asylum legislation in the Member States while, on the other hand, they reduced severely the safeguards of the asylum-seekers since it becomes even harder for them to prove that, in their specific case, the presumption of safety should not be applied.¹⁸¹

Paragraph 3, in turn, permitted the maintenance of legislation that determines that only parts of a country are safe or that specific groups are safe in that country or in parts of the country. The question here was how a country can be considered as safe if part of the territory is not, or part of its population is in danger of persecution and other human rights violations.¹⁸²

According to Article 31(2) of the 2005 AP Directive, the Member States should presume as unfounded the application of individuals who come from countries considered as SCO in the common list of SCO. In turn, according to paragraph 3 of the same Article, the Member States had to establish national legislation that allowed the application of the SCO (binding obligation even for the countries that previously did not apply this concept).

These two provisions went further than the prescription of the necessary minimum standards and imposed a legally binding obligation of using the SCO concept, even for Member States that had not adopted the concept.¹⁸³ After the annulment of Article 29 of the 2005 AP Directive, this critique was mitigated, since the mandatory provisions concerning SCO rules became ineffective.¹⁸⁴

¹⁷⁸ UNHCR, "Improving Asylum Procedures: Comparative analysis and Recommendations for Law and Practice – Detailed Research on Key Asylum Procedures Directive Provisions" (March 2010), p 334.

¹⁷⁹ 2005 AP Directive, Article 30/2/a.

¹⁸⁰ 2005 AP Directive, Article 30(2)(b).

¹⁸¹ ECRE, "ECRE Information Note on the Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005 on minimum standards on procedures in Member States for granting and withdrawing refugee status" (2006), p 28.

¹⁸² ECRE, "ECRE Information Note on the Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005" (n 181), p 28.

¹⁸³ ECRE, "ECRE Information Note on the Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005" (n 181), p 28; Hunt (n 151), p 511.

¹⁸⁴ Hunt (n 151), p 511.



Another critical aspect was the procedural consequences of the application of the SCO concept to the asylum-seeker.¹⁸⁵ According to paragraphs 3 and 4 of Article 23 of the 2005 AP Directive, the examination procedures could be accelerated if the application was considered to be unfounded due to the fact that the applicant came from an SCO.¹⁸⁶

Depending on the country, the time limits for accelerated procedures could vary between fortyeight hours and three months,¹⁸⁷ while the normal ones varied between one month and six months.¹⁸⁸ Especially in the countries where time limits were extremely short, the concern was that, in practice, the basic guarantees were not effective.¹⁸⁹ This concern was even greater when the personal interview¹⁹⁰ and the abolishment of the automatic suspensive effect took place during the appeal period,¹⁹¹ after the refusal of the application.¹⁹²

A positive aspect was that, regarding the automatic suspensive effect, the CJEU and ECtHR have been very active in establishing in their jurisprudence¹⁹³ that the removal of the asylum-seeker can only happen when the Member State affords a sufficient remedy and, usually, it happens only when the asylum-seekers are allowed to stay in the territory of the host country.¹⁹⁴

¹⁸⁵ Hunt (n 151), p 511.

¹⁸⁶ 2005 AP Directive, Article 23(4)(c)(i).

¹⁸⁷ Commission, "Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the Application of Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005 on Minimum Standards on Procedures in Member States for Granting and Withdrawing Refugee Status" (Report) COM (2010) 465 final, p 9.

¹⁸⁸ Commission, "Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the Application f Directive 2005/85/EC (n 187), p 9

¹⁸⁹ These shorter times exert even more pressure on applicants since it makes it even harder for them to produce and present evidence in such brief periods. In addition, there is often prejudice concerning the documentation presented by the applicants based simply on the preconception that their documentation is inaccurate or even false. Hunt (n 151), p 511-512.

¹⁹⁰ 2005 AP Directive, Article 12(2)(c).

¹⁹¹ 2005 AP Directive, Article 39/3/a.

¹⁹² Commission, "Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the Application f Directive 2005/85/EC (n 187), p 10.

¹⁹³ Case C-69/10 Brahim Samba Diouf v. Ministre du Travail, de l'Emploi et d l'Immigration [2010]; Gebremedhin v France App no 25389 [ECtHR, 26 April 2007]; Muminov v Russia App no 42502/06 [ECtHR, 11 December 2008]; Baysakov and others v Ukraine App no 54131/08 [ECtHR, 18 May 2010]; Labsi v Slovakia App no 33809 [ECtHR, 24 September 2012].

¹⁹⁴Hunt (n 151), p 512.



2.1.3.2 The present

In 2009, the European Commission presented proposals to change the fundamental legal documents related to asylum,¹⁹⁵ including the Directive on asylum procedures. The proposals introduced some guarantees and safeguards for asylum-seekers, namely, an obligation to have a personal interview independently of the future decision on the admissibility of the application.¹⁹⁶

The Council and the European Parliament did not arrive at an agreement, so these proposals did not become European legislation. According to the records of the time, the centre of the disagreement was precisely the future of safe country concepts and practices. The European Parliament argued for the creation of a real common procedural regime (instead of coordination on minimum standards), and the necessity for more safeguards.¹⁹⁷

After a lengthy discussion and compromises, new directives were approved between 2011 and 2013, namely the recast of the AP Directive. Significant improvements were accomplished with the new AP Directive. Nonetheless, some criticisms were still not addressed.

One of the key areas of criticism is the inexistence of agreement between the Member States on which countries should be included in the list of SCO, which suggests that there is no common understanding of the concept itself.¹⁹⁸

Moreover, one of the objectives of this Directive was the establishment of common procedural standards in the EU to build a genuine European asylum system. This objective was not accomplished, however. First, some Member States did not adopt the concept¹⁹⁹ and second, some

¹⁹⁵ Commission, Proposal for a Directive on minimum standards on procedures in Member States for granting and withdrawing international protection COM(2009) 554 final; Commission, Proposal for a Directive on minimum standards for the qualification and status of third country nationals or stateless persons as beneficiaries of international and the content of the protection granted COM(2009) 551 final/2; Commission, Proposal for a Directive laying down minimum standards for the reception of asylum seekers COM(2008) 815 final.

¹⁹⁶ Proposal for a Directive on minimum standards on procedures on Member States for granting and withdrawing international protection (21/10/2009) COM(2009) 554, p 6; ECRE, "Comments from the European Council on Refugees and Exiles on the European Commission Proposal to recast the Asylum Procedures Directive" (May 2010), p 39-41.

¹⁹⁷ Hunt (n 151), p 523.

¹⁹⁸ Commission, "An EU 'Safe Countries of Origin' List", p 2; ECRE, "Information Note on Directive 2013/32/EU of the European parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection (recast)" (December 2014), p 42; ECRE, Forum Réfugiés-Cosi, the Irish Refugee Council and the Hungarian Helsinki Committee, "Mind the GAP: An NGO Perspective on Challenges to Accessing Protection in the Common European Asylum System – Annual Report 2013/2014" (AIDA, 9 September 2014), p 49.

¹⁹⁹ "[...] 15 out of 28 EU Member States apply the 'safe country of origin' concept in their asylum procedures, while another 7 have made provision for it in their national law following the transposition of the Asylum Procedures Directive". ECRE, "Safe countries of origin': A safe concept?" (AIDA Legal Briefing no 3, September 2015), p 2;



of the countries that did so, transposed it differently,²⁰⁰ and finally, the decision of which countries should be considered as safe is still a Member State decision,²⁰¹ which leads to different national lists, as seen previously.

Now, focusing on the normative aspects, according to Article 37 of the 2013 AP Directive, the Member States maintain the power to introduce or preserve legislation regarding national designation of SCO, provided that they do so according to Annex I of 2013 AP Directive.²⁰² They lost, however, the possibility to derogate²⁰³ the general rule established in the Annex, which is a crucial aspect in the increase of the safeguards to asylum-seekers. On the contrary, paragraph 2 of Article 37 of the 2013 AP Directive introduced the obligation of states to "[...] regularly review the situation in third countries designated as safe countries of origin", and paragraph 4 of the same Article includes the obligation to notify the Commission when a third country is designated as SCO.

The evolution verified was positive. Nonetheless, as ECRE pointed out in its Information Note about the 2013 AP Directive, the creation of national mechanisms that regularly review and, when necessary, remove countries from the list, is still missing.²⁰⁴ Without these mechanisms, the improvements will not be effective in practice.²⁰⁵

In the 2013 AP Directive, the application of the SCO concept is optional for the Member States. This attenuated the issue of the reduction of the protection standards for the Member States

²⁰⁰ FRA (n 199), p 4.

[&]quot;The SCO concept appears in 22 national legislations but only 15 EU Member States apply the concept in practice, but among which only 10 (Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Germany, Ireland, Luxemburg, Malta, Slovakia and United Kingdom [UK]) have lists while the other just apply case-by-case (Estonia, Finland, Hungary, Latvia and Netherlands). FRA, "Opinion of the EU Agency for Fundamental Rights concerning an EU common list of safe countries of origin" (Opinion – 1/2016), p 8.

²⁰¹ The differences in the national lists highlight the idea that, in some cases, the real reasons behind the classification of certain countries as SCO are related to political interests, rather than the evaluation of safety. Costello (n 150), p 608-609; "While certain nationalities are in some form deemed as manifestly unfounded by as many as 13 countries, the same is not true for other countries such as Georgia, Moldova, Ukraine, Pakistan, Bangladesh, India, Mongolia, Nigeria or Senegal." ECRE, "Common asylum system at a turning point: Refugees caught in Europe's Solidarity Crisis Report" (Comparative Reports, 10/09/2015).

²⁰² In Annex I of the 2013 AP Directive, SCO are described as countries where generally and consistently persecution (following Article 9 of the 2011 EU Qualification Directive), torture, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment do not exist and there is no threat because of indiscriminate violence in situations of international or internal armed conflicts. According to the European Economic and Social Committee, the criteria established for the determination of the SCO are not enough and should be developed to provide more guarantees; Jose Antonio Moreno Diaz, "Opinion of the European Economic and Social Committee of a Regulation of the European Parliament and the Council establishing an EU common list of safe countries of origin for the purpose of Directive 2013/32/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection, and amending Directive 2013/32/EU" (10 December 2015), Para 1.2.

²⁰³ 2005 AP Directive, 30(2)(3).

²⁰⁴ ECRE, "Information Note on Directive 2013/32/EU" (n 198), p 43.

²⁰⁵ ECRE, "Information Note on Directive 2013/32/EU" (n 198), p 43.



that had not yet adopted this concept in their national legislation. The obligation of paragraph 2 of Article 36 of the 2013 AP Directive²⁰⁶ applies, thus, only to the Member States that decided to adopt the concept in their national legislation.²⁰⁷

From a more procedural perspective, according to Article 31(8)(b) of the 2013 AP Directive, Member States can use an accelerated procedure if the applicant is originally from an SCO (procedural function) unless the applicant can rebut the assumption of safety. Thus, in principle, the existence in the law of the SCO concept does not mean that an application from an asylum-seeker coming from an SCO will be considered automatically unfounded, but, in practice, most of the times that the concept is used, the decision is the rejection of the asylum application^{208,209}.

In the 2013 AP Directive, the Members States are obliged to conduct an interview to analyse the admissibility of the application.²¹⁰ Furthermore, the concerns and criticisms of the previous solution in the area of effective remedies and the automatic suspensive effect were heard. Now, Member States shall permit the asylum applicants to remain in their territory to be able to exercise the right to an effective remedy.²¹¹

When it comes to SCO procedures, the court or a tribunal has the power to decide if the applicant can or cannot remain in the territory of the Member State when the decision of the administration was the rejection of the application.²¹² To ensure that an asylum-seeker has effective access to remedies, paragraph 7 of Article 46 of the 2013 AP Directive establishes the preconditions for the court or tribunal be able to decide whether the applicant can remain in the territory of the Member State or should return to the country of origin.²¹³

Paragraphs 6 and 7 of Article 46 of 2013 AP Directive, however, still do not comply entirely with concerns of the ECtHR concerning the principle of non-refoulement, mainly taking into

²⁰⁶ "Member States shall lay down in national legislation further rules and modalities for the application of the safe country of origin concept", 2013 AP Directive, Article 36(2).

²⁰⁷ ECRE, "Information Note on Directive 2013/32/EU" (n 198), p 42.

²⁰⁸ "Importantly, most decisions issued in the EU+ using accelerated or border procedures lead to a rejection of the application at a significantly higher rate than for decisions made via normal procedures. The recognition rate for decisions issued using accelerated procedures was 11%, while for those using border procedure it was 8%."; European Asylum Support Office, "Annual Report on the Situation of Asylum in the EU 2017: Executive Summary" (2018), p 11. The same tendency was verified in the evaluation of 2015: "Accelerated procedures had a 10% recognition rate, and border procedures 12%."; European Asylum Support Office, "Annual Report on the Situation of Asylum in the European Union 2015" (2016), p 96.

²⁰⁹ Hunt (n 151), p 526.

²¹⁰ 2013 AP Directive, Article 34.

²¹¹ 2013 AP Directive, Article 46(5).

²¹² 2013 AP Directive, Article 46(6).

²¹³ ECRE, "Information Note on Directive 2013/32/EU" (n 198), p 53.



consideration the short time limits to appeal and the lack of reference in the European norm to the necessity for a full examination of the facts and law applicable to the concrete situation.²¹⁴

To conclude this section, the changes accomplished with the 2015 Directive were quite significant to the improvement of the European asylum system insofar as they became more consistent with the objectives and purposes of international refugee law.

All the progress accomplished did not allow, nonetheless, the conciliation of the Geneva Convention and the New York Protocol with the 2013 AP Directive. The difficulties are connected with the idea that even when the general population enjoys state protection, certain minorities (ethnic, religious, sexual or other minorities) can be exposed to mistreatment, and the application of the SCO does not look to these differences, which leads to unfair situations (lack of protection of individuals who are in real need of international protection).²¹⁵

2.1.3.3 The Future

In 2014 and 2015, the number of persons trying to enter European territory rose substantially, which led to the crisis of the European refugee system, as seen before. The crisis of the system showed that the rules that were in force (and still are) were not able to answer the states' needs, specifically of those who are on the borders of the EU (Greece and Italy).

As mentioned in the first chapter of this thesis, between 2015 and 2016, the European Commission prepared and presented proposals to reform the European asylum system; however, until today, the proposals are still waiting for further negotiations between the Council and the European Parliament.

Since it is unlikely that a complete new proposal will be submitted, I will examine the proposed establishment of the SCO concept in the AP Regulation Proposal.

In the proposed AP Regulation, the definition of SCO appears in Article 47. The criteria established here are, in substance, very similar to the definition present in the 2013 AP Directive. Nevertheless, an essential change was the inclusion in the main body of the Regulation of the criteria to consider a country as SCO, instead of being attached to the annex.

²¹⁴ ECRE, "Information Note on Directive 2013/32/EU" (n 198), p 54.

²¹⁵ ECRE, "Safe countries of origin': A safe concept?" (n 199), p 4.



The decision to bring the necessary conditions to the main body of the document seems to be a good option to facilitate the reading and the comprehension of the concept. As ECRE also expressed, the formal change gives transparency to the concept and the process.²¹⁶

Another aspect that also facilitates the common understanding of the rules is the description of the exact acts that cannot be carried out by the states under consideration,²¹⁷ instead of only referring to the principle of non-refoulement.²¹⁸ This change is essential to reduce the possibility of different interpretations of the principle of non-refoulement by the different Member States (more restrictive or more extensive interpretations).

In the regulation proposal, the adverb "consistently" used to describe the inexistence of persecution disappeared. This change is not favourable, since the express obligation of the non-existence of persecution must be consistent and standard practice rather than the exception.²¹⁹

The movement to harmonise the SCO concept and its application is stronger than ever with the adoption of the position that the transposition of the SCO concept shall be mandatory for all Member States, even for those that do not have it already in national legislation.²²⁰ This is achieved through the use of a regulation (an instrument directly applicable in the national legal orders of the Member States) and with the creation of a common European list. This change in the nature of the obligation to adopt the SCO by the Member States leads to a reduction in the protection of asylum-seekers, especially in the countries where this concept was not adopted.

According to ECRE, the adoption of a common list through regulation will create a gap in the judicial scrutiny of the legality of the application of the concept, since the CJEU will be the only one competent to do it.²²¹ The national courts will be no longer competent to assess the presumption of safety regarding a country; they will only have the competence to evaluate the application in an individual case.²²² Consequently, individuals that want to challenge the classification of a country as SCO will have to do so in the CJEU, which will increase the difficulties and costs.

 ²¹⁶ ECRE, "ECRE Comments on the Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedures Regulation" (November 2016), p
 58.

²¹⁷ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 47(3)(a).

²¹⁸ ECRE, "ECRE Comments on the Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedures Regulation" (n 216), p 58.

²¹⁹ UNHCR, "On the European Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedure Regulation – COM (2016) 467" (April 2019), p 44-45.

²²⁰ The adoption of the concept was always an option for the Member States, since in 2009 the ECJ annulled the mandatory list of Article 29 of the 2005 AP Directive.

²²¹ ECRE, "ECRE Comments on the Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedures Regulation" (n 216), p 60.

²²² ECRE, "ECRE Comments on the Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedures Regulation" (n 216), p 60.



Article 40 of the AP Regulation Proposal establishes the accelerated procedures, and in this legislative document, contrary to what happened in the previous directives, the application of accelerated procedures is mandatory when, among the other factors established, the applicant comes from an SCO.²²³ The mandatory application of the concept is the logical consequence of the existence of a mandatory European SCO list; nevertheless, this obligation leads to a decline of the level of the protection in countries that did not include the SCO concept in their legislation and in countries that had established it but where the concept was not applied.²²⁴

Moreover, the Member States can maintain or introduce legislation that allows the national designation of countries as SCOs for a period of five years after the entry of the AP Regulation.²²⁵ This possibility compromises the harmonisation process attempt because it makes the preservation of two parallel systems that have different rules or characteristics possible.

The Regulation Proposal states that the Commission has to review the conditions in the SCO regularly to verify if the conditions that allowed the classification are still verifiable.²²⁶ The Commission is obliged to make a thorough assessment and to verify whether the SCO still complies with the requirements laid down or if a substantive change of circumstances did occur. In the case of a change in circumstances, the Commission shall adopt a delegated act to suspend the presence of the country in the EU common SCO list for six months.²²⁷

If the negative changes remain three months after the adoption of the delegated act, the Commission should submit a proposal to remove the SCO from the common list, through the ordinary legislative procedure²²⁸.²²⁹ The necessity of subordinating the changes in the common list of SCO to an ordinary legislative procedure creates difficulties, especially due to the need for swift decisions, which cannot be achieved through this process.

²²³ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 40(1)(2).

²²⁴ "While most Member States currently have an accelerated procedure in the law, some of them, such as Cyprus, do not use them in practice, whereas a number of EU Member States, including Ireland and Sweden, are perfectly capable of managing their caseloads without having such a procedure formalised legislation."; ECRE, "ECRE Comments on the Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedures Regulation" (n 216), p 48.

²²⁵ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 50; "While Member States may adopt legislation that makes it possible at the national level to designate countries of origin other than those appearing on the EU common list [...]", José Antonio Moreno Diaz (n 202), Para 2.3.

²²⁶ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 48(2).

²²⁷ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 49(1).

²²⁸ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 49(3).

²²⁹ ECRE, "ECRE Comments on the Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedures Regulation" (n 216), p 61.



In terms of an effective remedy, according to Article 53 of the AP Regulation Proposal, the applicants have the right to appeal in case of an unfavourable decision²³⁰ and, in the appeal, the court needs to review "full and ex nunc" the facts and applied law.²³¹ The most worrying aspect regarding the protection of the rights of asylum-seekers in this article is the short time limits established,²³² since those deadlines may undermine the capacity of applicants, in practice, to appeal the decisions.²³³

Focusing on the proposal for the European common list, it is time to look into the proposed countries and to see which are the difficulties that this document creates and why.

Looking at the national SCO lists, one conclusion can be drawn: different countries have different lists. So, with the EU common list,²³⁴ the Commission aimed to reduce the differences between the Member States in order to achieve the harmonisation wanted.

The Commission used three criteria to select the seven countries that are part of this common list proposal. Firstly, the countries need to fulfil the requirements established in Article 47 of the AP Regulation Proposal. This condition should be the fundamental and most relevant in the assessment of a country to consider it as an SCO, but looking at some of the countries proposed, this does not seem to be the case.

Secondly, for a country to be in the SCO common list, the recognition rates should be low.²³⁵ The use of recognition rates²³⁶ has been commonly accepted; however, in certain circumstances²³⁷ this has been intensely criticised. Some of the most critical positions regarding the use of recognition rates are also present in court decisions.²³⁸

²³⁶ Low percentages of asylum recognition lead to the conclusion that the state is generally safe.

²³⁰ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 53(1)(iii).

²³¹ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 53(3).

²³² AP Regulation Proposal, Article 53(6).

²³³ Concerning the suspensive effect of the appeal, the solution adopted is very similar to the solution of the 2013 P Directive, so no further considerations will be made in this respect.

²³⁴ Composed by Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Kosovo, Montenegro, Serbia and Turkey. European Parliament, "Safe countries of origin: Proposed common EU list" (Briefing: EU Legislation in Progress, 8 October 2015), p 1.

²³⁵ European Parliament, "Safe countries of origin: Proposed common EU list" (n 234), p 6.

²³⁷ See, for example, the position of the Belgian Commissioner-General for Refugees and Stateless Persons in ECRE, "Safe countries of origin': A safe concept?" (n 199), p 6.

²³⁸ "Si la partie adverse relève justement qu'un faible taux de reconnaissance du statut de réfugié ne peut mener à conclure en soi qu'un pays est d'origine sûr, un taux élevé de reconnaissance du statut de réfugié suffit par contre à exclure qu'un pays d'origine puisse être qualifié de sûr au sens de l'article 57/6/1 de la loi du 15 décembre 1980. [...] Le seul fait que de nombreux demandeurs d'asile sont originaires des pays repris dans la liste des pays d'origine sûrs n'est pas incompatible avec la constatation selon laquelle « d'une manière générale et de manière durable, il n'y est pas recouru à la persécution au sens de la Convention internationale relative au statut des réfugiés, signée à Genève le 28



The critiques to this approach are very pertinent; nonetheless, low recognition rates can have a role in the classification of the countries as safe, provided they are not considered as sufficient or as the principal element.

The last criteria are the Council of Europe membership and the EU accession perspectives.²³⁹ The question that arises here is whether these criteria provide any relevant answers to the assessment of the reality of the countries that are being considered for the list of safe countries or whether, on the contrary, they merely give a formal view of the question.²⁴⁰ This aspect will be very important for the assessment of Turkey as an SCO.

The responsibility of the EU and the Member States does not end with drawing up the lists. The EU's common list and the national ones need to be regularly and carefully reviewed to avoid violating the rights and safeguards of the asylum-seekers and refugees. The constant follow-up obligation implies that the responsibilities of the EU and the Member States towards the protection of the rights and safeguards of the applicants start with the drafting of the lists but continue after that.

2.1.4 Practical case: Turkey as an SCO

The inclusion of Turkey in the proposal for a common European list is one of the most controversial and questionable issues of the list, and it is an excellent example of the risks of the SCO concept.

First, looking at the national lists, only one of the Member States recognise Turkey as an SCO.²⁴¹ As said previously, it has been normal to see a lack of consensus between the Member States regarding the safety of many of the countries; however, in this case, there is almost a

juillet 1951, telle que déterminée à l'article 48/3, ou [qu'il existe] des motifs sérieux de croire que le demandeur d'asile court un risque réel de subir une atteinte grave telle que déterminée à l'article 48/4»." Belgian Conseil d'Etat, Decision No 231.157 [7 May 2015].

²³⁹ Albania, Bosnia-Herzegovina, North Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia and Turkey are members of the Council of Europe, are parties in the ECHR, have adhered to the ECtHR (the only exception is Kosovo, for lack of consensus related to its status) and five of them are also in negotiations to enter the EU (Albania, North Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia and Turkey). ECRE, "Safe countries of origin': A safe concept?" (n 193), p 5.

²⁴⁰ ECRE, ""Safe countries of origin": A safe concept?" (n 199), p 5.

²⁴¹ ECRE, "Safe countries of origin": A safe concept?" (n 199), p 7; Commission, "An EU 'Safe Countries of Origin' List" (n 198), p 2.



consensus in the opposite direction, so the question is why the Commission proposed Turkey as a safe country.

Secondly, in 2014 (the most recent data before the proposal was presented), the average recognition rate for applications from Turkish asylum-seekers was 23.1%, while the recognition rate in some Member States went up to 85.8%.²⁴² Very similar rates were verified in the first and second quarters of 2015.²⁴³ So, if a country should have low recognition rates (less than 17%) to be considered safe, which is not the situation in the case of Turkey, the question remains: why does the Commission consider Turkey an SCO?

Third, in the common list proposal, the adherence to the ECHR and the acceptance of the ECtHR jurisdiction are also taken into account. This criterion seems to be the primary legal basis for the inclusion of Turkey in the list. This criterion, however, raises many problems, especially considering that Turkey is one of the members of the Council of Europe with a high number of admissible applications (between 1959 and 2018, there were 5592)²⁴⁴ and a more significant number of judgements in which at least one violation of the ECHR was found (between 1959 and 2018, there were 3128 judgments, among which there are several condemnations regarding inhuman or degrading treatment, lack of effective investigations, violation of rights to liberty and security, to a fair trial and to an effective remedy).²⁴⁵ Membership, or the possibility of future membership, cannot be a relevant factor when the other criteria are not verified.

Therefore, the logical explanation for the inclusion of Turkey in the EU common list is the EU-Turkey Statement²⁴⁶,²⁴⁷ where Turkey accepted receiving a high number of asylum-seekers and refugees that had departed to Europe from Turkey.²⁴⁸ This case is thus an example of one of the dangerous uses of the SCO concept, namely its easy permeability to political interests.

To conclude, the inclusion of Turkey in the EU common list of SCO is even more problematic and dangerous for the protection of the potential asylum-seekers originating from Turkey if we

²⁴² ECRE, "'Safe countries of origin': A safe concept?" (n 199), p 8.

²⁴³ ECRE, "Safe countries of origin": A safe concept?" (n 199), p 8.

²⁴⁴ ECtHR, "Overview 1959-2018: ECHR" (March 2019), p 5

²⁴⁵ ECtHR (n 244), p 8 and 9.

²⁴⁶ The Statement will be analysed in more detail in the next sub-chapter.

²⁴⁷ Costello (n 150), p 611.

²⁴⁸ Costello (n 150), p 611.



consider the events after the alleged coup attempt in July 2016 and its consequences for Turkish society and institutions.²⁴⁹

2.1.5 SCO in the world – The Canadian experience

After examining the conceptualisation of the SCO concept in the EU, it is time to look at another example of the establishment of the SCO concept in another part of the world, the experience of the SCO in Canada. This analysis will help to show how other countries deal with the concept and, above all, how the level of protection of the rights and safeguards of asylum-seekers in the EU compares to another country.

Since 2009 and 2010, the political and social environment has changed in Canada, and the will to receive a significant number of asylum-seekers and refugees has decreased substantially. This new attitude emerged after a period of progressive liberalisation of the asylum standards and recognition of a broader definition of the refugee concept through case law and policies.²⁵⁰ The change was a consequence of the shift in the political discourse, much more geared towards the need for protection against terrorists, traffickers, and smugglers.²⁵¹

To reduce the number of applications for asylum and at the same time improve the efficiency of the system, in 2010 and 2012 Parliament approved the Balanced Refugee Reform Act (IRPA)²⁵² and the Protecting Canada's Immigration System Act,²⁵³²⁵⁴ respectively. These two new documents amended the 2001 Immigration and Refugee Protection Act (IRPA).²⁵⁵ It was in this package of measures that the Designated Country of Origin (DCO) provision was introduced.²⁵⁶

In the Canadian experience, the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration is authorised to classify certain countries as safe and, as a consequence, the application is submitted to an inferior

²⁴⁹Amnesty International, "Turkey 2017/2018" (2018).

²⁵⁰ Marina Stefanova, "The 'Safe' Need Not Apply: The Effects of the Canadian and EU Safe Country of Origin Mechanisms on Roma Asylum Claims" (2014), 49(1), *Texas International Law Journal*, p 135 and 136.

²⁵¹ Idil Atak, Graham Hudson and Delphine Nakache, "The Securitisation of Canada's Refugee System: Reviewing the Unintended Consequences of the 2012 Reform" (17 January 2018), 37(1), *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, p 4 and ss.

²⁵² Balanced Refugee Reform Act (29/06/2010) S.C. 2010, c. 8.

²⁵³ Protecting Canada's Immigration System Act (28/06/2012) S.C. 2012 (2012 IRPA), c. 17.

²⁵⁴ The package of these two legal documents is called "2012 refugee reform"; Atak, Hudson and Nakache (n 251), p 2. ²⁵⁵ Macklin (n 154), p 117.

²⁵⁶ Macklin (n 154), p 117.



refugee determination process.²⁵⁷ The emergence of the DCO in Canada is related to the excessive percentage of Hungarian Roma asylum applications.²⁵⁸

The Canadian system permits the classification of countries as DCO when one of two criteria is verified: the quantitative or the qualitative criteria.²⁵⁹ According to Section 109.1(1) of the 2012 IRPA, the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration has the power to identify a DCO according to quantitative criteria. The Minister defines the quantitative criteria (exact minimum number of claims or percentage of rejected or abandoned/withdrawn claims that allow the classification of a country as DCO)²⁶⁰ in the same document where the DCO were listed.²⁶¹

When the number of claims is lower than the number provided in the order, the Minister can still decide for the classification of a country as DCO when she/he considers that in that particular country there is an independent judicial system, fundamental democratic rights and freedoms are recognised, and mechanisms for redress are available together with civil society organisations (qualitative criteria).²⁶²

Similarly to the European process, the applications from asylum-seekers with origin in DCOs have their request processed faster. The applicant from a DCO will have a hearing within thirty or forty-five days, and they will have fewer days to present documents to support the need for asylum.²⁶³ When the law was approved, the applicants could not appeal an unfavourable decision, nor was there a possibility of the suspension of the removal during the period of an action to the Federal Court.²⁶⁴

Following a constitutional challenge before the Federal Court, on 13 July 2015, the Court ruled that the 2012 Amendment denying the right of appeal to the asylum-seekers violates Canada's Charter of Rights and Freedoms. In consequence, the Government changed the rule, and now it is

²⁵⁷ Macklin (n 154), p 100-101.

²⁵⁸ Macklin (n 154), p 101.

²⁵⁹ Macklin (n 154), p 121.

²⁶⁰ According to the "Backgrounder: Summary of Changes to Canada's Refugee System in Protecting Canada's Immigration System Act", the minimum rejection rate should be 75% and the abandonment/withdrawal rate should be at least 60%; Macklin (n 154), p 121.

²⁶¹ 2012 IRPA, Section 109.1(2)(a).

²⁶² 2012 IRPA, Section 109.1(2)(b).

²⁶³ Legal Aid Ontario's LawFacts, "Designated Countries of Origin", <<u>http://lawfacts.ca/taxonomy/term/187</u>> accessed 01/05/2019.

²⁶⁴ Government of Canada, "The Government discontinues its appeal in the YZ Litigation" (7 January 2016), <<u>https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/news/2016/01/the-government-discontinues-its-appeal-in-the-y-z-litigation.html</u>> acceded 1/05/2019.



possible for the applicants to appeal before the Refugee Appeal Division (RAD) of the Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada.²⁶⁵

Finally, this system seems not to have mechanisms or instruments to review the list in the case of a change in circumstances in the country considered as DCO.²⁶⁶

In conclusion, the European system is more complete and provides more guarantees than the Canadian system, especially considering that, in the former, the preconditions are previously stipulated, and the classification of a country as a safe country should always take into account the reality of the countries, which may not happen in the Canadian system.

2.1.6 Conclusions on SCO in the European system

After having made an overview of how the SCO has been conceptualised in EU legislation, and presented one of its recent applications to a specific country (Turkey), as well as an example of its conceptualisation outside the European Union (Canada), it is time to draw conclusions regarding this concept, namely, its legitimacy and congruence with fundamental human rights.

First, it is important to bear in mind that the SCO policy is, by principle, on the opposite side of the main goals of the international refugee protection system. Whereas the foundation of international protection is, above all, humanitarian values and the protection of life and the integrity of human beings, SCO is, clearly, much more concerned with the healthy functioning of asylum systems at the national and regional levels. So, the question is whether, even with their fundamentally different values, the two concepts are reconcilable.

Looking at the practices of the countries, we have no doubt that reconciliation is possible. If the decision-making institutions believed that they were incompatible, SCO would not be enshrined in national and regional laws.

It is also clear that, with the times, the concept and the criteria for its application have been evolving since the demands and safeguards have increased.

That being said, many problems and issues still arise concerning the concept and its application. While, in theory, the concept is relevant to the control of the applications that are genuinely an abuse of the system, the practice has shown that the permeability of the concept to

²⁶⁵ 2012 IRPA, Section 110.1; Government of Canada (n 264).

²⁶⁶ Macklin (n 154), p 124.



other interests and issues, namely to political interests, is still high, even with the increase of the rules to restrict this possibility. The most recent and most paradigmatic case is the classification of Turkey as a safe country, as seen previously.

The lack of consensus regarding the national lists and the lack of the establishment of the concept in national legislation shows that there is no agreement among the Member States about it, despite the standard rules established in the European Directives. This absence of consensus demonstrates that the concept is still not sufficiently developed to impose a mandatory obligation to adopt it and a common European list.

Furthermore, the problems that persist in the European legislation regarding the protection of the rights and safeguards of the asylum-seekers, especially the issues related to the very short time limits and the exclusive responsibility of the applicants to withdraw the presumption of safety in their country of origin, continue to prevent the compliance with the international obligations,²⁶⁷ which the member states and the EU are required to respect.

Given the current development of the SCO concept and the lack of consensus about it, I believe that its implementation still presents danger and carries severe consequences for many asylumseekers, rather than benefits for the smooth functioning of systems in general. Thus, states and regional organisations should avoid the use and application of such a concept.

²⁶⁷ Established in the Geneva Convention and New York Protocol, ECHR and European Charter.



2.2 Safe third country (STC)

After considering the general evolution, at global and European levels, of the cornerstones of the migration and asylum policies from global and European perspectives focusing on the SCO concept, it is time to scrutinise the STC concept and understand how it has been included in European legislation.

The aims of this subchapter are to explore the STC concept and understand how it relates to the international obligations towards the asylum-seekers and refugees, in order to determine how the establishment of this concept in legislation has helped, or not, the protection of the rights and guarantees of the asylum-seekers.

2.2.1 Meaning of the STC concept

Under the 1951 Convention and the 1967 Protocol, as well as international customs, the states have the responsibility to protect those that legitimately ask for asylum. Nevertheless, in some cases, persons cannot be returned to their country without violating the principle of non-refoulement.

In those cases, the States, due to incapacity to receive more refugees or because they do not want to receive them, try to find legal solutions to avoid this obligation. One of the solutions adopted is the use of the safe third country (STC) concept.

The STC²⁶⁸ concept permits the authorities of the host country to reject an asylum application in the case where the applicant has travelled through other countries that are considered as safe and where the asylum-seeker should have requested international protection.²⁶⁹ In other words, States can return asylum-seekers to third countries, previously considered as safe, on condition that the

²⁶⁸ See the differences between Safe Third Country and First Country of Asylum in Stephen H. Legomshy, "Secondary Refugee Movements and the Return of Asylum Seekers to Third Countries: The Meaning of Effective Protection" (2003), 15(4), *International Journal of Refugee Law*, p 570 and 571 and 573.

²⁶⁹ Legomshy (n 268), p 570.



principle of non-refoulement and other fundamental principles are respected ("admission filter",270).271

The STC concept can be used in two distinct ways. On the one hand, it can be understood as a procedural instrument used by States to refuse to determine the refugee qualification of the claimant based on the argument that it is the responsibility of other States, while, on the other hand, it can be a criterion to determine if another country has sufficient protection to permit the removal of the individuals to there.²⁷² The use of the concept according to the first perspective is, nowadays, the most used, relevant, and the one that I will focus on.²⁷³

The other side of the coin of the STC is the readmission agreements. They facilitate the process of readmission, establishing, normally, an explicit obligation to readmit a State's own nationals and a certain number of third-country nationals who have some connection with the country (traditionally, the readmission country is one of the transit countries in which the asylum seeker was in during the travel).²⁷⁴ These agreements can be bilateral, part of broader agreements, or even part of informal bilateral arrangements.²⁷⁵

The establishment of readmission agreements is preferable to unilateral action from the states that reject the application. Unilateral acts make it very difficult to assure that the asylum-seekers will be effectively readmitted and will have access to asylum guarantees.²⁷⁶

Moreover, there is also the possibility of instituting agreements in which, besides the question of readmission, the distribution of responsibility for the analysis of asylum requests in a given territory is also established.²⁷⁷ This is the case, for example, of the Dublin Regulation in the EU, where the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining the applications for asylum were established.²⁷⁸

²⁷⁰ Violeta Moreno-Lax, "The Legality of the 'Safe Country' notion contested: Insights from the Law of Treaties" (ch), Migration and Refugee Protection in the 21st Century: Legal Aspects (Académie de droit international de La Haye, 2015), p 670. ²⁷¹ Moreno-Lax (n 270), p 665.

²⁷² Maria-Teresa Gil-Bazo, "The Practice of Mediterranean States in the Context of the European Union's Justice and Home Affairs External Dimension. The Safe Third Country Concept Revisited" (2006), 18(3), International Journal of Refugee Law, p 596.

²⁷³ Maria-Teresa Gil-Bazo, "The Practice of Mediterranean States in the Context of the European Union's Justice and Home Affairs External Dimension" (n 272), p 596.

²⁷⁴ Legomshy (n 268), p 576.

²⁷⁵ Legomshy (n 268), 576 and 577.

²⁷⁶ Legomshy (n 268), p 577.

²⁷⁷ Legomshy (n 268), p 578.

²⁷⁸ Dublin III Regulation, Articles 8-15.



2.2.2 Relevant principles

The use of the STC concept is less controversial than the SCO concept, especially between international organisations; nonetheless, it also has defenders and opponents. Here we will review some of the principles that are typically associated with both its defence and critique.

One of the first arguments in defence of the STC is that the international obligation to protect refugees is only valid for asylum-seekers that have a "genuine need of protection,"²⁷⁹ thus excluding all the persons that do not come directly from a country where they face persecution. In other words, according to this theory, the person who decides to cross different countries until she/he reaches a specific country is not seeking protection but searching for better living conditions and consequently is not worthy of receiving asylum in the last country.²⁸⁰

The principle of efficiency, as we saw in the previous subchapter, is originally an economic principle, and it aims to achieve the best possible results at the lowest cost and in the least time possible. When applying this principle to asylum application procedures, the States and the regional organizations aim to assess a higher number of asylum applications at the lowest cost and in the shortest time possible.

The relevance of the STC concept is also easily understood in this context of need to find solutions that will reduce costs and resources used. Such is especially the case when the number of applications grows significantly. The SCT concept thus allows for the presumption of safety in some transit countries, and hence, the return of several asylum-seekers to these countries. Consequently, SCT allows the reduction of evaluation-procedure time limits. At the same time, it decreases the number of applications that are being thoroughly evaluated.

Concerning the principle of non-refoulement, in its turn, the STC concept can be very problematic for the protection of the rights of the asylum-seeker and for the general operation of the international system in two ways. On the one hand, the third country where the applicant will return (normally, one of the countries that he/she crossed to reach the final destination) could itself be unsafe or put the asylum-seeker in danger, which is a direct violation of the principle of nonrefoulement.²⁸¹ On the other hand, the transit country may not have a functional asylum system and,

 ²⁷⁹ Moreno-Lax (n 270), p 669.
 ²⁸⁰ Moreno-Lax (n 270), p 669-670.

²⁸¹ Geneva Convention, Article 33.



in consequence, could send back the asylum-seeker to his/her country of origin, which would be an indirect violation of the principle of no-refoulement²⁸² (also a violation of Article 33 of 1951 Convention).

Another principle that could be jeopardized is the principle of solidarity or fair distribution. Typically, many transit countries²⁸³ are, themselves, also countries that have economic or social difficulties, so an increase in the number of people in need of international protection increases difficulties that already exist.

2.2.3 STC in EU legislation

Following the exploration of the meaning and principles of the STC concept, it is time to look at how European institutions have been establishing the concept in European legislation. This analysis is accompanied by criticisms as to its implementation, with the fundamental points being both the positive aspects and those that violate the rights and guarantees of asylum-seekers.

Due to the impossibility of analysing all the aspects involved, I will focus on the points that are more relevant to the proposal of this thesis. Furthermore, the procedural issue of the effective remedies will not be addressed in this subchapter since the problems and difficulties that the STC concept raises are similar to those analysed in the SCO subchapter.

2.2.3.1 The past

The first time that the STC concept was used was in the amendments of the Danish Aliens Act in 1986, similarly to the case of the SCO concept.²⁸⁴ The emergence and increasing use of the STC concept occurred in the period when the European countries started to change their perspective and discourse towards the asylum-seekers. The political argument used was that the asylum-seekers

²⁸² Geneva Convention, Article 33.

²⁸³ Joint declaration establishing a Mobility Partnership between the Kingdom of Morocco and the European Union and its Member States (3 June 2013), Para 13; Déclaration conjointe pour le Partenariat de Mobilité entre la Tunisie, l'Union Européenne et ses Etats membres participants (3 March 2014), Para 9; Joint declaration establishing a Mobility Partnership between the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan and the European Union and its participating Member States (9 October 2014), Para 9.

²⁸⁴ Moreno-Lax (n 270), p 664.



chose a country perceived as the one that would be better for their interests and claims (forum shopping theory), instead of just looking for safety.²⁸⁵

Shortly after, in 1989, the UNHCR published a document about the problem of irregular movements of refugees and asylum seekers from a country where they had found protection.²⁸⁶²⁸⁷ The UNHCR document established the three elements that characterised the phenomena:²⁸⁸ (i) refugees or asylum-seekers who move irregularly, (ii) from countries where they have already received asylum, (iii) to find protection elsewhere. In the same document, it was also established that in these cases, the refugees or asylum-seekers should be returned to the country where they had already found protection,²⁸⁹ but in exceptional cases, when refugees or asylum-seekers could prove that, in the country from where they moved irregularly, they feared persecution or that their physical safety or freedom would be in danger, the last host country should consider the concept: the country of first asylum.

At the European level, the first time that the concept was introduced was in the Convention for the Implementation of the Schengen Agreement,²⁹¹ a fundamental document in the construction of the Single Market project.²⁹² In this Convention, the Member States established the right to refuse entry or expel asylum-seekers to other Member States, provided that the international rules and obligations were respected.²⁹³

In 1992, on the Resolution on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries, the Members States agreed that to consider a country as safe, it shall protect life and freedom according to Article 33 of the Geneva Convention,²⁹⁴ not submit the applicant to torture or other inhumane or degrading treatment,²⁹⁵ and provide effective protection against refoulement

²⁸⁵ Moreno-Lax (n 270), p 665.

²⁸⁶ Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme, "Problem of Refugees and Asylum-Seekers Who Move in an Irregular Manner from a Country in Which They Had Already Found Protection" No. 58 (XL) (UNHCR, 13 October 1989).

²⁸⁷ Maria-Teresa Gil-Bazo, "The Safe Third Country Concept in International Agreements on Refugee Protection: Assessing State Practice" (2015), 33(1), *Netherlands Institute of Human Rights*, p 47.

²⁸⁸ Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme (n 286), Para a.

²⁸⁹ Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme (n 286), Para f.

²⁹⁰ Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme (n 286), Para g.

²⁹¹ Convention for the Implementation of the Schengen Agreement (19 June 1990), 42000A0922(02) OJ L 239 (CISA).

²⁹² Moreno-Lax (n 270), p 673.

²⁹³ CISA, Article 29.

²⁹⁴ Resolution on Safe Third Countries, Article 2/a.

²⁹⁵ Resolution on Safe Third Countries, Article 2/b.



according to Article 33 of the Geneva Convention.²⁹⁶ Besides, the STC to where the applicant is sent back should be a country where he or she already has protection or where he or she has the opportunity to seek protection.²⁹⁷

As early as December 1992, the UNHCR published a position about the STC concept. The UNHCR takes the position that the STC concept is legitimate; however, it is problematic in some respects.²⁹⁸ Firstly, it is important to give the applicant the opportunity to refute the presumption of the safety in his or her case and to appeal, even if through accelerated procedures.²⁹⁹ Secondly, the protection in the third country needs to be in accordance with basic human standards (protection against return to situations of persecution, severe insecurity, or other situations that justify asylum and treatment in accordance with basic human rights).³⁰⁰ Thirdly, the states should avoid unilateral returns. In other words, when previous readmission agreements do not exist, the Member States should ensure that the third country gives consent (explicit or implicit) to readmit the applicant because this is the only way to guarantee that the applicant will effectively have access to protection.³⁰¹ Finally, the transit in a country should not be sufficient to establish the link between the applicant and the return country, since it is relevant that the asylum-seeker has some connection or link with the return state.³⁰²

As part of preparations for the 2005 AP Directive, the STC concept was again discussed. The Directive established that the Member States could apply the STC concept and, consequently, consider an application as unfounded³⁰³ when there is a belief that (i) the life and liberty of the asylum-seeker would not be threatened, (ii) the principle of non-refoulement would be respected in accordance with the Geneva Convention, (iii) the international laws, which prohibit removal in case of torture, cruel, inhumane or other degrading treatment would be respected, and (iv) it is possible

²⁹⁶ Resolution on Safe Third Countries, Article 2/d.

²⁹⁷ Resolution on Safe Third Countries, Article 2/c.

²⁹⁸ UNHCR, "UNHCR's Position on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries" (1 December 1992).

²⁹⁹ UNHCR, "UNHCR's Position on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries" (n 298), point 1 & 2. ³⁰⁰ UNHCR, "UNHCR's Position on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries" (n 298),

point 3.

³⁰¹ UNHCR, "UNHCR's Position on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries" (n 298), point 4.

³⁰² UNHCR, "UNHCR's Position on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries" (n 298), point 5 and 6.

³⁰³ 2005 AP Directive, Article 23(4)(c)(ii).



for asylum-seekers to request international protection in the return country.³⁰⁴ Moreover, it was expected that, with the adoption of the concept in national laws, the Members States should establish the necessary connection between the asylum-seeker and the third country and the specific rules of functioning of the concept.³⁰⁵

The 2005 AP Directive, in paragraph 3 of Article 36, established the obligation of the Council to approve a common European list of STC. As in the case of the SCO concept, this provision was also annulled by the CJEU,³⁰⁶ based on the lack of exclusive competence of the Council to legislate and on the violation of the EU Treaty's legislative procedures.³⁰⁷

In Article 27 of the 2005 AP Directive, which defined the STC concept, there was no express reference to the need for ratification of the Geneva Convention or the New Protocol.³⁰⁸ So, to be in accordance with the Geneva Convention but also with the ECHR, the 2005 AP Directive needed further development of the criteria for the designation of the states as STC, namely the express reference to the ratification of the principal human rights treaties (Geneva Convention and New York Protocol, Convention against Torture and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and its Optional Protocols), and the existence of a fair and efficient asylum procedure.³⁰⁹

The development of the criteria is important not only for the asylum-seekers but also for the EU. According to the ECtHR, when States apply the concept of STC, they do not disclaim their responsibility towards the asylum-seekers.³¹⁰ In other words, this position of the ECtHR implies that even when the applicant is transferred to a third country previously considered as safe, and he/she is submitted or exhibits the real risk of being subjected to treatment contrary to Article 3 of

³⁰⁴ 2005AP Directive, Article 27(1).

³⁰⁵ 2005 AP Directive, Article 27(2).

³⁰⁶ C-133/06 European Parliament v. Council of the European Union [6 May 2008].

³⁰⁷ The arguments presented for the annulment of this Article were the same to the ones presented for the annulment of the Article related to the common SCO list; C-133/06 European Parliament v. Council of the European Union [6 May 2008], Para 49-61.

³⁰⁸ ECRE, "ECRE Informations Note on the Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005" (n 181), p 23; UNHCR, "Improving Asylum Procedures" (n 178), p 301.

³⁰⁹ ECRE, "ECRE Information Note on the Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005" (n 181), p 23.

³¹⁰ "The Court reiterates in the first place that Contracting States have the right, as a matter of well-established international law and subject to their treaty obligations including the Convention, to control the entry, residence and expulsion of aliens. [...]. It is however well-established in its case-law that the fundamentally important prohibition against torture and inhuman and degrading treatment under Article 3, read in conjunction with Article 1 of the Convention to 'secure to everyone within their jurisdiction the rights and freedoms defined in [the] Convention', imposes an obligation on Contracting States not to expel a person to a country where substantial grounds have been shown for believing that he would face a real risk of being subjected to treatment contrary to Article 3 [...]." T.I. v UK [ECtHR, 7 March 2000] App no. 43844/98, p 14; Ahmed v. Austria judgment [ECtHR, 17 December 1996], *Reports* 1996-VI, Para 38-39.



the ECHR, the country that returned the applicant is still accountable. So, in order to avoid such responsibility and assure the protection of the rights of these persons, the Member States, when transferring someone to a third country, should have the guarantee that it will respect the principle of non-refoulement but also the other rights as established in the Geneva Convention and in the New York Protocol.

Moreover, the lack of European criteria for the necessary link between the STC and the applicant is also a matter of concern.³¹¹ This lack of more detailed criteria allowed some of the Member States to establish that the sufficient link was just the fact that the applicant crossed the STC, which goes against what was defended by different organisations, such as the UNHCR.³¹²

2.2.3.2 The present

In 2013, it was finally possible to have a new AP Directive, after discussions that took years between the Council, the European Parliament and the Commission, as seen previously.

In general terms, the 2013 AP Directive brought significant changes, namely the increased safeguards for refugees and asylum-seekers in the European Union in relation to the previous directive. Nonetheless, with regard to the concept of a safe third country, the changes were not so expressive.

Regarding the STC concept,³¹³ a criterion was added to the list of requirements that allow the classification of a country as STC (no risk of serious harm according to the Qualification Directive),³¹⁴ and the necessity to enable the applicants to challenge the unfavourable decision became mandatory.³¹⁵³¹⁶

In its turn, the jurisprudence of the ECtHR, although with respect to the application of the concept at national level,³¹⁷ has given indications of how the criteria to classify a country as safe should be interpreted and implemented. One of the main aspects that has been analysed in the

³¹¹ ECRE, "ECRE Information Note on the Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005" (n 181), p 24; UNHCR, "Improving Asylum Procedures" (n 178), p 311 and 314.

³¹² UNHCR, "Improving Asylum Procedures" (n 178), p 311-314.

³¹³ 2013 AP Directive, Article 38.

³¹⁴ 2013 AP Directive, Article 38(1)(b).

³¹⁵ 2013 AP Directive, Article 38(2)(c).

³¹⁶ ECRE, "Information Note on Directive 2013/32/EU" (n 198), p 43.

³¹⁷ Since the EU itself is not part of the Council of Europe.



decisions of the ECtHR is how the principle of non-refoulement (direct or indirect) should be considered: if formal presence is enough, or if verification in practice is also relevant. One of the cases in which this issue was discussed was in the case of Hirsi Jamaa and Others v Italy, where the ECtHR clearly established that it is not sufficient that the principle is present in law, it must be verified in practice.³¹⁸

Another fundamental aspect that the ECtHR also brought up was the inclusion of the respect for the basic socio-economic rights in the elements that should be considered in the concrete assessment of the risk of ill treatment.³¹⁹

In the 2013 AP Directive, but already in the 2011 proposal of the European Commission to recast the 2005 AP, the concerns about the lack of criteria to define the conditions that need to be met in order to consider a country as STC – principally the inexistent reference to ratification of the main legal international documents in this area (fundamentally the Geneva Convention and the New York Protocol) – remain, calling into question the effective respect for the safeguards of the asylum-seekers.³²⁰

The inexistence of criteria that define the connection between the applicant and the third country to where she/he should return continues to be a problem for the protection of the rights and safeguards of the asylum-seekers. Without these standards, the Member States are still able to establish transit as a connection requirement, which goes against the recommendations of several organisations.

³¹⁸ Hirsi Jamaa and Others v Italy App no. 27765/09 [ECtHR, 23 February 2012], Para 127 – 128; see also, M.S.S. v. Belgium and Greece App no. 30696/09 [ECtHR, 21 January 2011], Para 223; Sharifiet autres c. Italie et Grèce App no 16643/09 [ECtHR, 21 October 2014], Para 167.

³¹⁹ "[...] those persons were systematically arrested and detained in conditions that outside visitors [...] could only describe as inhuman. Many cases of torture, poor hygiene conditions and lack of appropriate medical care were denounced by all the observers. [...] [they] were subjected to particularly precarious living conditions as a result of their irregular situation. Irregular immigrants, such as the applicants, were destined to occupy a marginal and isolated position in Libyan society, rendering them extremely vulnerable to xenophobic and racist acts." Hirsi Jamaa and Others v Italy, App No. 27765/09 [ECtHR, 23 February 2012], Para 125; "[...] the Court must determine whether a situation of extreme material poverty can raise an issue under Article 3. [...] The Court reiterates that it has not excluded 'the possibility that the responsibility of the State may be engaged [under Article 3] in respect of treatment where an applicant, who was wholly dependent on State support, found herself faced with official indifference in a situation of serious deprivation or want incompatible with human dignity' [...]" MSS v Belgium and Greece App no. 30696/09 [ECHR, 21 January 2011], Para 252 – 253.

³²⁰ UNHCR, "UNHCR comments on the European Commission's Amended Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection status (Recast) COM (2011) 319 final" (January 2012), p 29.



Finally, looking at Article 39 of the 2013 AP Directive and especially paragraph 2, the European safe third country implies formal preconditions (ratification of the Geneva Convention without geographical limitations, ratification of the ECHR) instead of focusing more on the material ones (the concrete respect for those provisions), which goes against what was established by the ECtHR in different judgments, as seen before.

2.2.3.3 The future

With the developments that occurred in 2014 and 2015, especially since the summer of 2015, and since the functioning asylum system was not addressing the issues, the European Commission presented proposals to change the essential legal documents concerning the EU refugee system.

The STC concept, which is part of this system, also suffered some changes in the proposal for the AP Regulation. The most notable was the establishment of two levels of the STC concept: the national³²¹ and the European.³²²³²³

In the case of the SCO concept, essential improvements were made in the Commission proposal, while, in the case of the STC concept, the evolution was not so positive since more questions and concerns emerged.³²⁴

Firstly, Article 45 accepts that "sufficient protection", in terms of content, is compatible with a lower level of protection than the one that it is established in the Geneva Convention and New Protocol, provided they respect the standards present in Article 42(2). This new rule opens the door to the possibility of considering a country that does not recognise the refugee status or imposes limitations (geographical or temporal) to the application of the refugee status as safe.³²⁵

The "sufficient protection" possibility does not, however, respect Article 78(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).³²⁶ According to this Article, the common policy on asylum, subsidiary protection, and temporary protection of the EU has to follow the relevant treaties

³²¹ AP Regulation Proposal, Articles 45 and 50.

³²² AP Regulation Proposal, Articles 45 and 46.

³²³ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 45.

³²⁴ The issues and critics related to the existence, at the same time, of national and European STC concepts (Article 50 of the AP Regulation Proposal) and to the suspension and removal of a third country as a safe third country at Union level are the same as those considered for the SCO concept, so they will not be addressed here.

³²⁵ Which goes against the letter and the meaning of the Geneva Convention and of the New York Protocol.

³²⁶ ECRE; "ECRE Comments on the Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedures Regulation" (n 216).



in the area, namely the Geneva Convention and the New York Protocol. By establishing that "sufficient protection" may be less than the protection provided in the Geneva Convention and New York Protocol, Article 45(1)(3) goes against these two main international treaties, which, in its turn, goes against what is established in Article 78(1) of the TFEU.

Moreover, as for the SCO, the Regulation proposal imposes a mandatory obligation to adopt the STC and a mandatory obligation to apply the concept to particular cases,³²⁷ even without a consensus about the concept. This binding obligation leads to a reduction in the protection of the safeguards of the asylum-seekers in the countries where, previously, the concept was not established.

Another critical issue is the establishment that the sufficient connection between the applicant and the return country is the mere transit.³²⁸ This solution goes against all the recommendations and suggestions of the international community regarding this issue. On the contrary, different organisations, particularly the UNHCR, have always defended that the sufficient connection should be meaningful, and mere transit is not sufficiently meaningful for the establishment of the link.

2.2.4 Practical case: Turkey as an STC (EU-Turkey Statement)

The agreement between the EU and Turkey is the most paradigmatic and significant of the agreements that have been established between the EU and third countries over the last years. On the one hand, it is the most well known and, on the other hand, it is the most complete and developed agreement.

On 18 March 2016, the European Council signed the EU-Turkey Statement, which resulted from the already existing cooperation between the EU and Turkey (since the joint action plan that started on 29 November 2015).³²⁹

With the objective of stopping smuggling and reducing the number of migrants and asylumseekers that enter in the EU through Turkey, it was established that:³³⁰ (i) all irregular migrants that arrived in Greece from Turkey after 20 March 2016 should be returned to Turkey after being

³²⁷ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 45(1).

³²⁸ AP Regulation Proposal, Article 45(3)(a).

³²⁹ Council, "EU-Turkey statement" (n 144). ³³⁰ Council, "EU-Turkey statement" (n 144).



registered and individually processed by the Greek authorities; (ii) for each Syrian returned to Turkey from the Greek Islands, another Syrian should be resettled in a Member State from Turkey, according to the UN Vulnerability Criteria; (iii) Turkey should take the necessary measures to stop new routes for illegal migration; (iv) a Voluntary Humanitarian Admission Scheme would be set up after a significant reduction of the irregular crossings; (v) the EU would initiate the process of visa liberalisation for Turkish citizens; (vi) the EU would allocate 3 billion euro to facilities for refugees in Turkey and to ensure the funding of projects of persons under temporary protection (an additional 3 billion euro could be added in case of need for more investment); and (vii) continuing the processes of upgrading of the Customs Union and of Turkey's accession in EU.

This Statement has its legal bases in the AP Directive, and more specifically in the concepts of first country of asylum (for Turkish applicants) and safe third country (for other applicants to international protection).³³¹

Taking into consideration all the analyses made previously, here I will analyse whether Turkey can really be considered as a safe country and, subsequently, what are the consequences of this Statement for the protection of the rights and safeguards of the asylum-seekers.³³²

In 2013, the Turkish system was reformed, including now a dual structure for the application of asylum (Europeans can apply for refugee status, while non-Europeans can only apply for other types of international protection).³³³³³⁴

The establishment of a dual structure through the new Law on Foreigners and International Protection³³⁵ ensured Turkey's obligation to protect all persons in need of international protection, independently of their origin. The same law created the Directorate General of Migration Management (DGMM), responsible for the migration and asylum issues (instead of the Foreigners Department of the National Police, which normally acted without expertise or capacities).³³⁶³³⁷

³³¹ UNHCR, "Legal considerations on the return of asylum-seekers and refugees from Greece to Turkey as part of the EU Turkey Cooperation in Tackling the Migration Crisis under the safe third country and first country of asylum concept" (23 March 2016), p 1.

³³² The EU-Turkey Statement raises other issues and problems that will not addressed (namely the conditions in which the asylum-seekers live during the process of evaluation of their case in Greece), which are, however beyond the scope of this thesis, and therefore they will bot be addressed. For these issues, see for example, Amnesty International, "A Blueprint for Despair: Human Rights Impact of the EU-Turkey Deal" (2017).

³³³ Turkey had only ratified the Geneva Convention and not the New York Protocol, which implies that it just accepted asylum applications from European Countries.

³³⁴ Oktay Durukan, "Country Report: Turkey" (ECRE ed, AIDA, December 2015), p 15.

³³⁵ Law No. 6458 on Foreigners and International Protection (4 April 2013).

³³⁶ Durukan (n 334), p 17.



Regarding the non-European asylum-seekers, on the one side, Turkey implemented the temporary protection regime for persons that come from Syria, which permits access to legal stay and some level of access to basic rights (protection from refoulement) and services³³⁸ (Article 91 of Law on Foreigners and International Protection and Temporary Protection Regulation).³³⁹ This regime is a group-based approach and does not imply a formal status determination procedure.³⁴⁰ The people that benefit from temporary protection cannot, however, seek individual international protection.³⁴¹

On the other hand, asylum-seekers that come from other countries (besides European countries or Syria) should apply for individual international protection, which takes the form of conditional refugee status (Article 62 of Law on Foreigners and International Protection) or subsidiary protection status (Article 63 of Law on Foreigners and International Protection). The conditional refugee status permits access to fewer rights, does not allow long-term legal integration, and does not allow family unification.³⁴² The Turkish subsidiary protection system is very similar to the subsidiary protection system established in the EU Qualification Directive, and as in the case of the conditional refugee status, these persons have access to fewer rights and guarantees but can benefit from family unification.³⁴³

Although relevant changes occurred during 2013 and 2014, the effective access to international protection has been criticised. For example, in the Report of the Council of Europe of 2016,³⁴⁴ Ambassador Tomáš Boček declared that after the DGMM achieved the numbers a priori established for international protection applications, the registration of the applications stopped or, at least, the processes were delayed, obliging asylum-seekers to wait, sometimes months or one year, to have access to their first appointment.³⁴⁵ Moreover, in 2016, pre-registration phases were introduced without being published, which makes the process even more difficult.³⁴⁶

³³⁷ Durukan (n 334), p 15.

³³⁸ "Of this registered population of 2,291,900 about 263,000 are accommodated in 25 large-scale refugee camps spread across 10 provinces in the south of Turkey, whereas the remaining majority live in residential areas in private accommodation on their own resources and dispersed all over Turkey [...]"; Durukan (n 334), p 16.

³³⁹ Durukan (n 334), p 15.

³⁴⁰ Durukan (n 334), p 16.

³⁴¹ Durukan (n 334), p 16.

³⁴² Durukan (n 334), p 17.

³⁴³ Durukan (n 334), p 17-18.

³⁴⁴ Tomáš Boček, "Report of the fact-finding mission to Turkey" (Council, 10 August 2016).

³⁴⁵ Boček (n 344), p 8.

³⁴⁶ Boček (n 344), p 8.



Regarding the access to international protection during detention, Ambassador Tomáš Boček observed that, formally, the rules were respected, but when he talked with detainees, they had declared that they had not been given information about their rights and guarantees or access to the UNHCR or their lawyers during the time they were detained.³⁴⁷

In December of 2015, right before the signing of the EU-Turkey Statement, Amnesty International published a report denouncing human rights violations in Turkey.³⁴⁸

Although there were changes promoted by the Turkish government in 2013-2014, as already seen, Amnesty International reported continued inadequate access to housing, education, and healthcare for refugees, especially for the ones outside of the government-run camps.³⁴⁹

In September 2015, Amnesty International observed a raise the numbers of persons detained for attempting to cross to the EU irregularly. They were placed in isolated detention centres, without access to outside information regarding their detention or their rights, and, in some cases, there was physical ill-treatment, which violates national and international laws.³⁵⁰

Moreover, diverse cases of unlawful detention were followed by a forced return to Syria and Iraq, even when the affected persons were at risk due to serious human rights violations in their countries.³⁵¹ These practices violate the most basic national and international rules, namely the principle of non-refoulement.

More recently, the ECRE's last report regarding international protection in Turkey brings even more disturbing news. In 2018, important changes in the international protection procedures occurred. After the end of the UNHCR's registration activity, the DGMM took responsibility for this activity, but in practice, many obstacles were put into practice for the applicants to have access

³⁴⁷ Boček (n 344), p 8-9.

³⁴⁸ Amnesty International, "Europe's Gatekeeper: Unlawful Detention and Deportation of Refugees from Turkey" (December 2015). ³⁴⁹ "The situation remains dire for many, with legal provisions to grant work permits not being applied in practice and

³⁴⁹ "The situation remains dire for many, with legal provisions to grant work permits not being applied in practice and little or no subsistence available to the 90% of Syrian refugees who live outside government-run refugee camps. The economic situation for other groups of refugees and asylum-seekers in Turkey is similarly difficult and the Law on Foreigners and International Protection that entered into force in 2014 is rarely implemented in practice, with the result that very few asylum claims are actually being processed." Amnesty International, "Europe's Gatekeeper" (n 348), p 1-2.

^{2.} ³⁵⁰ Amnesty International, "Europe's Gatekeeper" (n 348), p 3-10.

³⁵¹ Amnesty International, "Europe's Gatekeeper" (n 348), p 10-12; Amnesty International, "Turkey: Illegal mass returns of Syrian refugees expose fatal flaws in EU-Turkey deal" (1 April 2016); Apostolis Fotiadis, Helena Smith and Patrick Kingsley, "Syrian refugee wins appeal against forced return to Turkey", *The Guardian*, (London, 20 May 2016); Human Rights Watch, "Turkey: Syrians Pushed Back at the Border" (23 November 2015).



to international protection procedures (refusal to accept registrations, many delays in the processes, or many formalities and obligations for the applicants).³⁵²

Furthermore, the established principle of non-refoulement suffered several derogations³⁵³ for membership or connection with terrorist organisations or criminal groups and threats to the public order or health, as established by international organisations, in 2016.³⁵⁴ In the case Y.T. on 12 June 2012, the Turkish Constitutional Court delivered a pilot judgement regarding the amendments made to the principle of non-refoulement by the Emergency Decree, where the Court established that since the Decree, 866 individual applications for interim measures against deportation had been made, and the Court granted them in 784 cases.³⁵⁵ Besides, the Constitutional Court requested the government to examine the law to understand if changes undermined the protection from refoulement or not.

In terms of temporary protection, many problems have been emerging, mainly related to the ending of application registrations for the status and the suspicions around the return of 315.000 Syrians.³⁵⁶

Considering the geographical limitations, living conditions, the detention and deportation practices, and all the changes that have occurred since 2016, it seems that Turkey does not respect the criteria established on Article 38 of the 2013 AP Directive to be considered a STC.

In conclusion, in my view, the application of the STC concept to Turkey and the EU-Turkey Statement are concrete examples of the dangers faced by thousands of people, especially in the area of violations of the principle of non-refoulement.

³⁵² ECRE, "Country Report: Turkey" (2018 Update, AIDA, 39 March 2019), <<u>https://www.asylumineurope.org/news/29-03-2019/aida-2018-update-turkey</u>> accessed 08/06/2019, p 14.

³⁵³ Introduced by the Emergency Decree 676 (29 October 2016), Karar Sayısı: KHK/676.

³⁵⁴ ECRE, "Country Report: Turkey" (n 352), p 14.

³⁵⁵ Pilot Karar Usulunun Baslatilmasina Dair Ara Karar (News, 12 June 2018); ECRE, "Turkey: Constitutional Court Pilot Judgement on Protection from Refoulement" (26 October 2018).

³⁵⁶ ECRE, "Country Report: Turkey" (n 352), p 15.



2.2.5 STC in the World – The South African experience

Having examined the STC concept in the EU, I will now concentrate on another example of the application of this concept in another part of the world: the experience of the STC in South Africa.

These analyses will help to explain how other countries deal with the same concept and, above all, to see how other applications influence the protection of asylum-seekers' rights.

South Africa is an important country in the area of asylum since it is a major host country in Africa. In 2017, the country had 281.574 refugees and asylum-seekers (a significant number, but much lower than before³⁵⁷).³⁵⁸

South Africa's asylum system was established in the 1998 Refugees Act,³⁵⁹ which was amended in 2008,³⁶⁰ 2011³⁶¹ and 2017.³⁶² Looking at the legislation, we do not find references to the STC concept (or the SCO concept); however, when we take into consideration the practice of rejecting asylum requests, we cannot conclude the same.³⁶³

Without any explicit reference, the concept emerged with the introduction of the "advance passenger proceeding" in the Immigration Amendment Act in 2011.³⁶⁴ With that the South African government intended to apply the concepts of STC and SCO. This new designation permitted the South Africa administration to accept only asylum applications from asylum-seekers coming directly from their country of origin.³⁶⁵ With this interpretation of the concepts, the objective seems

³⁵⁷ In 2015, South Africa had 1.218.739 refugees and asylum-seekers in its territory. South Africa Regional Office, "Key Figures" (UNHCR), <<u>http://reporting.unhcr.org/node/2524</u>> accessed 19/05/2019.

³⁵⁸ South Africa Regional Office (n 357).

³⁵⁹ Refugees Act no 130/1998 (20 November 1998).

³⁶⁰ Refugees Amendment Act no 33/2008 (26 November 2008).

³⁶¹ Refugees Amendment Act no 12/2011 (26 August 2011).

³⁶² Refugees Amendment Act no 11/2017 (18 December 2017).

³⁶³ Gil-Bazo, "The Safe Third Country Concept in International Agreements on Refugee Protection: Assessing State Practice" (n 287), p 50.

³⁶⁴ Immigration Amendment Act no 690/2011 (26 August 2011), Section 1(1).

³⁶⁵ "You must remember, international law refers to the first safe country an asylum seeker enters. [...] Even from Egypt, we will have to ask if South Africa is the first safe country – we may get told that Sudan was not safe and then ok. But, we must ask. If you coming from China at our port of entry, we must ask if we are the first safe country because international law regulates this matter. This is all this is. If someone says I first flew to Swaziland then we must ask why Swaziland was not safe for you. Because you must realise, a lot of these people applied for passports and visas from their governments, boarded planes and therefore you must ask. But if it is clear that South Africa is the first safe country." South Africa Government, "Transcript copy: Interaction with media by Home Affairs Minister Dr Nkosazana Dlamini Zuma regarding amendments to the Immigration Bill and new permitting regime, Media Statements" (2 September 2011); Gil-Bazo, "The Safe Third Country Concept in International Agreements on Refugee Protection: Assessing State Practice" (n 287), p 50.



to be the restriction of the obligation to accept persons in need of international protection, a position that is not in accordance with international refugee law.³⁶⁶

In 2014, in Regulation 22 of the Immigration Regulations 2014,³⁶⁷ the South African government established that the application of an asylum-seeker should be rejected if, among other reasons, the applicant already has refugee status. This position seems to be a step back from the previous one, since the rejection now only refers to the cases where asylum-seekers already have protection and not whenever South Africa is not the first country where the asylum-seeker stops after leaving the country of origin.

2.2.6 Conclusions on STC in the European system

After an overview of how the STC has been conceptualised in EU legislation, a recent application of it to a specific country (EU-Turkey Statement), and an example of its conceptualisation outside the European Union (South Africa), it is time to reflect on the concept itself, namely its consequences for the protection of the rights and safeguards of asylum-seekers and refugees.

It is undeniable that the evolution of the EU legislation on asylum brought important changes to the development of the protection of the rights of asylum-seekers and refugees.

The evolution of the STC concept, however, was much less visible, especially in the Regulation Proposal. This proposal brought negative solutions for the existing problems, particularly Article 45 of the AP Regulation Proposal, which establishes that a country can be considered as an STC even with a lower protection level than the one established in the Geneva Convention and the New York Protocol.

In response, in April 2018, the UNHCR established that to consider a country as an STC and, therefore, allowing the return of the asylum-seeker, that country has to treat, in law and in practice,

³⁶⁶ Gil-Bazo, "The Safe Third Country Concept in International Agreements on Refugee Protection: Assessing State Practice" (n 287), p 51-52.

³⁶⁷ Immigration Regulations 2014, Government Notice R413 in Government Gazette 37679 (22 May 2014), <<u>http://www.ufh.ac.za/international/assets/13-of-2002-immigration-act_regs-gnr-413_26-may-2014---to-date.pdf</u>> accessed 19/05/2019.



the asylum-seekers and the refugees in accordance with the 1951 Convention, the 1967 Protocol, and other human rights standards.³⁶⁸

One of the main concerns that are normally associated with this concept is the fear of violating the principle of non-refoulement (directly or indirectly). In this respect, this fear continues to be a concern since some of the readmission agreements still do not have specific rules for the question of refugees or asylum-seekers (the dominant concern of these agreements continues to be irregular migration and the means to control it), which means that they do not ensure that, after the return, asylum rights and guarantees will be respected.³⁶⁹

Because the European rules do not require the existence of readmission agreements for the returns, the lack of agreement further increases the concern about the rights of these persons.³⁷⁰ In these situations, there are no substantive facts or documents that ensure that the asylum-seeker will see his/her rights respected and will be allowed to submit the request for asylum in the return country.³⁷¹

Another central issue for the application of the STC concept is the determination of the links between the applicant and the STC. In the same document about the legal aspects of STC in 2018, UNHCR notes that the STC concept is normally applied when a person could have found and still can find protection in a third country when "it appears that a person, before requesting asylum, already has a connection or close links with another state".³⁷² Nevertheless, the Member States and now the EU, in the AP Regulation Proposal, continue to understand that it is enough if the STC is one of the transit countries of the asylum-seeker.

The STC concept itself could be a useful tool to help in the construction of a solidarity system. The problem arises, however, when it is used without taking into consideration the minimum standards of safety in law and practice required to answer to political interests. If the Commission's proposal regarding this concept is accepted, the protection of the rights of asylum-seekers and refugees will undoubtedly decrease.

³⁶⁸ The asylum-seekers should have access to the asylum procedures, to basic human rights, especially in the case of detention, and the state has to provide access to sufficient means to maintain adequate standards of living. UNHCR, "Legal Considerations regarding access to protection and a connection between the refugee and the third country in the context of return or transfer to safe third countries" (April 2018), Para 7-10.

³⁶⁹ Legomshy (n 268), p 583.

³⁷⁰ Legomshy (n 268), p 584-585.

³⁷¹ Legomshy (n 268), p 584-585.

³⁷² UNHCR, "Legal Considerations regarding access to protection and a connection between the refugee and the third country in the context of return or transfer to safe third countries" (n 368), Para 6.



Conclusion

The evolution of the international system of protection of asylum-seekers and refugees, as we know it today, started at the beginning of the 20th century. Nevertheless, its main development occurred only after WWII, with the creation of the UNHCR and the Geneva Convention (complemented later by the New York Protocol).

At the European level, the creation of a European system did not happen until much later. The development started in the 1980s after a significant increase in the number of people trying to reach European territory and with the development of the Single Market.

In the beginning, the use of the European Community stage (through intergovernmental cooperation) aimed at seeking new solutions to decrease the number of entries of persons from third countries through the restriction of the rights and guarantees of these persons. This change of stage is justified by the increase of the national judicial and civil society opposition to these types of measures.

From the late 1990s and in the early 2000s, the reality changed. In consequence of the development of the structure and functioning of the current EU, namely with the increase of the powers of the European Parliament (co-decision procedure), the end of the unanimity requirement in the Council decisions, and the expansion of the jurisdiction of the CJEU, the role of the European framework in the growth of the protection of the rights and guarantees of the asylum-seekers in the European territory is undeniable.

This conclusion can be safely made for two reasons. On the one hand, the countries that, at a national level, have a strong protection system, are not required by the European law in the area of asylum to decrease their protection, while, regarding the ones that have lower protection, the changes in the European legislation oblige them to increase their protection.

That said, many improvements are still necessary to make the European system a fair and just system. Proof of this necessity was the blockage of the asylum system after a substantive increase of asylum-seekers to the EU in 2014 and 2015. During this period, while some countries were overburdened with the responsibility of assisting and welcoming the large number of asylum-



seekers (namely Greece, Italy, and Germany), other countries simply refused to share responsibility in doing so.

In order to overcome these problems, the European Commission presented proposals to change the main legal documents that formed the European migration and asylum system. The different positions of the Member States, and of EU institutions such as the Council and the European Parliament, has blocked all possibilities of reaching an agreement and developing the current legislation. This lack of agreement has not only been stopping the improvement of the system but has also been preventing a real response to the migration and asylum issues.³⁷³

Although it has been impossible go further at legislative level, the EU has, through its international relations with third countries, implemented a policy of externalisation of borders and controlling the migration and asylum flows, in order to avoid the arrival of migrants and asylum-seekers to the EU territory. These policies have been implemented by the European agencies related to migration and asylum (namely Frontex and the European Asylum Support Office). The EU-Turkey Statement, as previously said, is the most well known and comprehensive of all, but it is also a paradigmatic example of how, over the last few years, concerns with security and border control have taken precedence over refugee rights approaches.

The evolution of the SCO and STC concepts in the EU law has been, generally, positive for the increase of the protection of asylum-seekers' rights and safeguards because, over time, the requisites and the criteria for their application have been raised and because this evolution has also been reflected in the national legislations of countries with the lowest levels of protection.

The question now is to know if the evolution of the criteria and the safeguards of the SCO and STC concepts are enough to affirm that they are not too restrictive or violate the rights and guarantees of the asylum-seekers and refugees and allow for an effective use of the system.

Over the course of time, three major problems have been persisting in relation to the SCO concept. First, the lack of consensus among the Member States and between the Member States and the EU on the SCO lists shows the fragility of the criteria of the SCO concept or, at least, regarding the interpretation of the characteristics of a SCO, which calls into question the concept itself.³⁷⁴

³⁷³ As happens, for example, in the area of trade.

³⁷⁴ Why, for example, does the United Kingdom consider Mali as a SCO, while no other country does so? Or why do Germany, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Slovakia, Denmark, Bulgaria, Malta, France and Luxembourg, consider Ghana as an SCO while the other countries do not?



In addition, although the SCO should be a mere procedural concept used to facilitate the functioning of the asylum system, it seems that it is used for other objectives and interests, namely for political interests, which is corroborated by the existence of several different SCO lists. The use of the SCO concept for political objectives seems to be also the case of the classification of Turkey as an SCO.

Furthermore, although the mandatory application of this concept helps the construction of a harmonised asylum system, it creates another problem: this solution imposes the use of the concept, even in Member States that do not use it, which causes a decrease of the guarantees for some asylum-seekers in countries where the need for accelerated processes is not felt or, at least, is felt in a different way.

Lastly, there are procedural challenges of the concept that still persist, namely the issue of the burden of proof lying solely on the asylum-seeker. This is particularly problematic if we take into account the short time limits and the prejudice that sometimes exists towards asylum-seekers.

Thus, taking into consideration these three elements and the further discussions referred to above, the application of the SCO concept still presents dangers for and entails restrictions to the protection of the refugees' human rights.

In relation to the STC concept, besides the procedural issues already mentioned concerning the SCO, two major problems call into question the use of this concept. Firstly, the possibility of considering a country as safe when it did not ratify the Geneva Convention and/or the New York Protocol. These two primary documents contain the minimum standards for the protection of asylum-seekers and refugees. So, if the European legislation considers as STC countries that did not ratify these two documents, it is because the EU admits the possibility of classifying countries that have lower levels of protection than those established in the Geneva Convention and New York Protocol as safe, which, in itself, is a violation of the international refugee law. Besides it also violates Article 78(1) of the TFEU, which established that the EU asylum policy "must be in accordance with the Geneva Convention of 28 July 1951 and the Protocol of 31 January 1967 relating to the status of refugees, and other relevant treaties."

Secondly, the establishment that transit is a sufficient link between the asylum-seekers and the STC to where they should return continues to not take into consideration the concerns and suggestions of international organisations such as the UNHCR.



Therefore, taking into account these challenges and the discussions previously made, the conclusion can only be one: the dangers to the rights and guarantees of the asylum-seekers introduced by the two concepts are too vast to be compatible with an effective, fair, and just asylum system.

Additionally, the issues and problems related to the safety concepts are no longer just raised by the strict application of the SCO and STC concepts. Now, with the externalisation of the border policies and with the informal agreements made with neighbouring countries to control irregular migration and to prevent migrants and refugees from arriving in European territory, these questions have a broader application.

It is not correct to affirm that, in externalisation and border control policies, the SCO and STC concepts are applied, but it is, nevertheless, correct to assert that these policies imply the use of foundational principles and ideas analogous to those used in the SCO and STC concepts (especially the principle of non-refoulement and the idea of sufficient safety). This justifies raising similar questions and issues regarding both policies and points to the current relevance of all the questions highlighted in this thesis.³⁷⁵

With the rise of populisms, associated with anti-migration/refugee movements and governments, it is fundamental that the EU and its institutions (namely the Commission and the European Parliament) show that they are prepared to deal in a united, consistent and humane way with the internal challenges of a still uneven Europe, but also with the external challenges, such as those posed by migration and asylum.

Policies mostly based on safe concepts and border controls can help ward off some of the problems in the short term, but they do not solve them. It is essential for the EU to set up a union policy that addresses, on the one hand, the integration of the persons that arrive in European territory and, on the other hand, the establishment of safe paths for the asylum-seekers and of

³⁷⁵ The criminal action that was submitted to the ICC to prosecute the EU for the death of migrants in the Mediterranean fleeing from Libya proves exactly the connection between the foundation principles and ideas of the SCO and STC concepts and the externalisation policy: "The submission states that: 'In order to stem migration flows from Libya at all costs ... and in lieu of operating safe rescue and disembarkation as the law commands, the EU is orchestrating a policy of forced transfer to concentration camps-like detention facilities [in Libya] where atrocious crimes are committed."; Owen Bowcott, "ICC submission calls for prosecution of EU over migrant deaths", *The Guardian* (London, 3 June 2019); See also Amnesty International, "Cruel European migration policies leave refugees trapped in Libya with no way out" (12 November 2018); Pijnenburg, Gammeltoft-Hansen and Rijken (n 143); Annick Pijnenburg, "From Italian Pushbacks to Libyan Pullbacks: Is Hirsi 2.0 in the Making in Strasbourg?" (2018), 20, *European Journal of Migration and Law*.



agreements and (democratisation, economic, military) cooperation with third countries to help resolve the problems and conflicts that are at the root of the rise in the numbers of asylum-seekers and refugees, even if this implies some internal opposition. Only then will the asylum-seekers and refugees be able to enjoy an effective and fair system of protection.

Very recently, in May of this year, the Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe, in the Recommendation Report "Lives saved. Rights protected. Bridging the protection gap for refugees and migrants in the Mediterranean"³⁷⁶ urged the members of the Council of Europe, which include, in a direct way, all the Member States of the EU and, in an indirect way, the EU itself, to increase their contribution in the resettlement programmes and to enable and expand "[...] the possibilities for humanitarian visas, sponsorship schemes or other mechanisms that help create safe and legal routes"³⁷⁷, what would lead to a real growth of the safety of the asylum-seekers and refugees.

³⁷⁶ Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe, "Lives saved. Rights protected. Bridging the protection gap for refugees and migrants in the Mediterranean" (24 May 2019).

⁶⁷⁷ Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe (n 376), Recommendation 34.



Primary Sources

Jurisprudence

- Court of Justice of the European Union:

Case C-133/06 European Parliament v Council of the European Union [2008]

Case C-69/10 [2010]

- European Court of Human Rights:

Ahmed v. Austria judgment, Reports 1996-VI [ECtHR, 17 December 1996]

T.I. v UK [ECtHR, 7 March 2000] App no. 43844/98

Gebremedhin v France App no 25389 [ECtHR, 26 April 2007]

Muminov v Russia App no 42502/06 [ECtHR, 11 December 2008]

Baysakov and others v Ukraine App no 54131/08 [ECtHR, 18 May 2010]

M.S.S. v. Belgium and Greece App no. 30696/09 [ECtHR, 21 January 2011]

Hirsi Jamaa and Others v Italy App no. 27765/09 [ECtHR, 23 February 2012] Labsi v Slovakia App no 33809 [ECtHR, 24 September 2012]

Sharifiet autres c. Italie et Grèce App no 16643/09 [ECtHR, 21 October 2014]

- National Courts:

Belgian Conseil d'Etat, Decision No 231.157 [7 May 2015], <<u>http://www.raadvst-</u> consetat.be/Arrets/231000/100/231157.pdf#xml=http://www.raadvstconsetat.be/apps/dtsearch/getpdf.asp?DocId=28138&Index=c%3a%5csoftware%5cdtsearch%5ci ndex%5carrets%5ffr%5c&HitCount=2&hits=16+17+&0648442019511> accessed 05/06/2019

Pilot Karar Usulunun Baslatilmasina Dair Ara Karar (12 June 2018)



Legislation

- Convention Relating to the International Status of Refugees (adopted 28 October 1933), CLIX No. 3663, <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3dd8cf374.html</u>> accessed 18/03/2019
- Convention concerning the Status of Refugees Coming from German (adopted 10 February 1938), CXCII, No. 4461, <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3dd8d12a4.html</u>> acceded /03/2018
- Charter of the United Nations (26 June 1945), <<u>https://treaties.un.org/doc/publication/ctc/uncharter.pdf</u>> accessed 02/05/2019
- Statute of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for the Refugees (adopted 14 December 1950) A/RES/428(V) (Statute of the Office of the UNHCR), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b3628.html</u>> acceded at 18/03/2019
- Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees (adopted 28 July 1951, entered into force 22 April 1954) 189 UNTS 137 (Geneva Convention), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/1951-refugee-convention.html</u>> accessed 18/03/2019
- Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees (adopted 21 January 1967, entered into force 4 October 1967), Treaty Series, vol. 606, (New York Protocol), https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b3ae4.html> acceded 18/03/2019
- Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa (adopted 10 September 1969, entered into force 20 June 1974) 1001 U.N.T.S. 45 (OAU Convention), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b36018.html</u>> acceded 18/03/2019
- The Schengen acquis Agreement between the Governments of the States of the Benelux Economic Union, the Federal Republic of Germany and the French Republic on the gradual abolition of checks at their common borders (14 April 1985) OJ *L 239* (Schengen Agreement), <<u>https://eur-</u>

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:42000A0922(02):EN:HTML> accessed
9/05/2019

Single European Act (28 February 1986) *OJ L 169*, <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/treaty/sea/sign</u>> acceded 9/05/2019



Convention determining the State responsible for examining applications for asylum lodged in one of the Member States of the European Communities (adopted 15 June 1990, entered into force 1 September 1997) Document 41997A0819(01) (Dublin Regulation),

<<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:41997A0819%2801%29</u>> acceded 09/05/2019

Convention for the Implementation of the Schengen Agreement (19 June 1990), 42000A0922(02) OJ L 239 (CISA),

<<u>https://eur-</u>

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:42000A0922(02):EN:HTML> accessed 14/06/2019

- Council Resolution of 30 November 1992 on Manifestly Unfounded Applications for Asylum (Resolution on Manifestly Unfounded Applications for Asylum), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3f86bbcc4.html</u>> accessed 23/03/2019
- Council Resolution of 30 November 1992 on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries (Resolution on Safe Third Countries), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3f86bbcc4.html</u>> accessed 23/03/2019
- Conclusions of 30 November 1992 on Countries in Which There is Generally No Serious Risk of
Persecution (Conclusion on safe countries of Origin),
<https://www.refworld.org/docid/3f86c3094.html> accessed 23/03/2019
- Treaty of Maastricht on European Union (adopted 7 October 1993, entered into force 1 November 1993) OJ C 191 (Treaty of Maastricht), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3Axy0026></u> acceded 09/05/2019
- Harmonised application of the definition of the term "refugee" under the Geneva Convention (2April1996)OJL63,<<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3Al33060</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- Refugees Act no 130/1998 (20 November 1998), <<u>https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201409/a130-980.pdf</u>> accessed 14/06/2019
- Presidency Conclusions of the Vienna European Council (11 and 12 December 1998), <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/summits/wie1_en.htm</u>> accessed 23/03/2019 (95)



- Treaty of Amsterdam (adopted 2 October 1997, entered into force 1 May 1999), <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/topics/treaty/pdf/amst-en.pdf</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- Presidency Conclusions of Tampere European Council (15 and 16 October 1999), <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/summits/tam_en.htm</u>> accessed 21/032019
- Council Directive 2003/9/EC of 27 January 2003 laying down minimum standards for the reception of asylum seekers (2003) OJ L 31/18 (2003 Reception Conditions Directive), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2003:031:0018:0025:EN:PDF</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- Council Regulation (EC) No 343/2003 of 18 February 2003 establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an asylum application lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national (2003) OJ L 50 (Dublin II Regulation),

<<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2003:050:0001:0010:EN:PDF</u>> accessed 09/05/2019

Commission Regulation (EC) No 1560/2003 of 2 September 2003 laying down detailed rules for the application of Council Resolution (EC) No 343/2003 establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an asylum application lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national (2003) OJ L 222/3 (EURODAC Regulation),

<<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2003:222:0003:0023:EN:PDF</u>> accessed 09/05/2019

- Council Directive 2003/109/EC of 25 November 2003 concerning the status of third-country nationals who are long-term residents (2003) OJ L 16/44 (2003 Qualification Directive), <<u>https://www.easo.europa.eu/sites/default/files/public/Longtermresidency-EN.pdf</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- The Hague Programme: Strengthening Freedom, Security and Justice in the European Union (3 March 2005) 2005/C 53/01 (Hague Programme), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52005XG0303%2801%29</u>> accessed 08/05/2019
- Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005 on minimum standards on procedures in Member States for granting and withdrawing refugee status (2005) OJ L 326/13 (2005 AP Directive),

<<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2005:326:0013:0034:EN:PDF</u>> accessed 09/05/2019



Commission, "Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament establishing a framework programme on Solidarity and the Management of Migration Flows for the period 2007-2013" (Communication) COM(2005) 123 final/2, <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52005DC0123</u>> accessed 31/05/2019

European Council, Global Approach to Migration COM(2007)247 (December 2005)

- Treaty of Lisbon (adopted 13 December 2007, entered into force 1 December 2009) OJ C 306, <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=OJ:C:2007:306:FULL&from=EN</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- European Pact on Immigration and Asylum (24 September 2008) 13189/08 ASIM 68, <<u>https://register.consilium.europa.eu/doc/srv?l=EN&f=ST%2013440%202008%20INIT</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- Refugees Amendment Act no 33/2008 (26 November 2008), < <u>http://pmg-assets.s3-website-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/150609act2008.pdf</u> > accessed 14/06/2019
- Commission, Proposal for a Directive laying down minimum standards for the reception of asylum
seekerscOM(2008)815<http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2009_2014/documents/com/com_com(2008)0815_/co</td>m_com(2008)0815_en.pdf> accessed 14/06/2019
- Commission, Proposal for a Directive on minimum standards on procedures in Member States for granting and withdrawing international protection COM(2009) 554 final, <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2009_2014/documents/com/com_com(2009)0554_/co</u> m com(2009)0554 en.pdf> accessed 14/06/2019
- Commission, Proposal for a Directive on minimum standards for the qualification and status of third country nationals or stateless persons as beneficiaries of international and the content of the protection granted COM(2009) 551 final/2, <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/docs_autres_institutions/commission_europeenne/com</u>/2009/0551/COM_COM(2009)0551(COR1)_EN.pdf> accessed 14/06/2019
- Proposal for a Directive on minimum standards on procedures on Member States for granting and withdrawing international protection COM(2009) 554, <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2009_2014/documents/com/com_com(2009)0554_/co</u> <u>m_com(2009)0554_en.pdf</u>> accessed 02/05/2019 (189)



- The Stockholm Programme An open and secure Europe serving and protecting the citizens (2 December 2009) 16484/1/09 REV 1 JAI 866 + ADD 1 (120), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2010:115:0001:0038:EN:PDF</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- Balanced Refugee Reform Act (29 June 2010) S.C. 2010, c. 8, <<u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/annualstatutes/2010_8/page-1.html</u>> accessed 06/06/2019
- Refugees Amendment Act no 12/2011 (26 August 2011), <<u>https://www.lhr.org.za/sites/lhr.org.za/files/refugees_amendment_act_2011.pdf</u>> accessed 14/06/2019
- Immigration Amendment Act no 690/2011 (26 August 2011), <<u>http://www.saflii.org/za/legis/num_act/iaa218.pdf</u>> accessed 14/06/2019
- Commission, "The Global Approach to Migration and Mobility" (Communication) COM(2011) 743 final, <<u>https://eur-</u> lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2011:0743:FIN:EN:PDF> accessed 31/05/2019
- Directive 2011/95/EU of 13 December 2011 OJ L 337/9 (Qualification Directive), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2011:337:0009:0026:en:PDF</u>> 31/05/2019
- Protecting Canada's Immigration System Act (28/06/2012) S.C. 2012 (2012 IRPA), c. 17, <<u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/annualstatutes/2012_17/page-1.html</u>> accessed 14/06/2019
- Law No. 6458 on Foreigners and International Protection (4 April 2013), <<u>http://www.goc.gov.tr/files/files/eng_minikanun_5_son.pdf</u>> accessed 29/05/2019
- Joint declaration establishing a Mobility Partnership between the Kingdom of Morocco and the European Union and its Member States (3 June 2013), <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-is-new/news/2013/docs/20130607_declaration_conjointe-maroc_eu_version_3_6_13_en.pdf</u>> accessed 07/06/2019
- Directive 2013/33/EU of 26 June 2013 OJ L 180/96 (Reception Conditions Directive), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32013L0033&from=EN</u>> accessed 31/05/2019



- Directive 2013/32/EU of 26 June 2013 OJ L 180/60 (2013 AP Directive), <<u>https://www.easo.europa.eu/sites/default/files/public/Dve-2013-32-Asylum-Procedures.pdf</u> > accessed 31/05/2019
- Regulation (EU) No 603/2013 of 26 June 2013 OJ L 180/1 (EURODAC Regulation), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:180:0001:0030:EN:PDF</u>> accessed 31/05/2019
- Regulation (EU) NO 604/2013 of 26 June 2013 OJ Ç 180/31 (Dublin III Regulation), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:180:0031:0059:EN:PDF</u>> accessed 31/05/2019
- Déclaration conjointe pour le Partenariat de Mobilité entre la Tunisie, l'Union Européenne et ses Etats membres participants (3 March 2014), <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/e-library/documents/policies/international-affairs/general/docs/declaration conjointe tunisia eu mobility fr.pdf</u> > accessed 07/06/2019
- Immigration Regulations 2014, Government Notice R413 in Government Gazette 37679 (22 May 2014), <<u>http://www.ufh.ac.za/international/assets/13-of-2002-immigration-act_regs-gnr-413_26-may-2014---to-date.pdf</u>> accessed 19/05/2019
- Joint declaration establishing a Mobility Partnership between the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan and the European Union and its participating Member States (9 October 2014), <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-is-</u> new/news/news/docs/20141009_joint_declaration_establishing_the_eujordan mobility partnership en.pdf> accessed 07/06/2019
- Commission, "A European Agenda on Migrations" (Communication) COM(2015) 240 final (13 May 2015), <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/anti-trafficking/sites/antitrafficking/files/communication_on_the_european_agenda_on_migration_en_pdf</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- Proposal for a Regulation establishing a common procedure for international protection in the Union (13 July 2016) COM(2016) 467 final (AP Regulation Proposal), <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/1/2016/EN/1-2016-467-EN-F1-1.PDF</u>> accessed 10/05/2019
- New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants (adopted 19 September 2016) A/RES/71/1 (New York Declaration),

<<u>https://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/71/1</u>> acceded 18/03/2019



Emergency Decree 676 (29 October 2016), Karar Sayısı: KHK/676

- Memorandum of understanding on cooperation in the fields of development, the fight against illegal immigration, human trafficking and fuel smuggling and on reinforcing the security of borders between the State of Libya and the Italian Republic (2 February 2017) (Memorandum of Understanding between Italy and Libya), <<u>https://eumigrationlawblog.eu/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/MEMORANDUM_translation_finalversion.doc.pdf</u>> accessed 09/05/1019
- Refugees Amendment Act no 11/2017 (18 December 2017), <<u>http://www.saflii.org/za/legis/num_act/raa201711o2017g41343231.pdf</u>> accessed 14/06/2019
- Global Compact on Refugees (adopted on 17 December 2018) Supplement No. 12 (A/73/12 (Part II), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/gcr/GCR_English.pdf</u>> acceded 18/03/2019

Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration (adopted on 19 December 2018) (A/RES/73/195), <<u>https://undocs.org/A/RES/73/195</u>> accessed 18/03/2019



Bibliography

Articles from legal journals

Atak, I., Hudson, G. and Nakache, D., "The Securitisation of Canada's Refugee System: Reviewing the Unintended Consequences of the 2012 Reform" (17 January 2018), 37(1), *Refugee Survey Quarterly*,

<<u>https://academic.oup.com/rsq/article-abstract/37/1/1/4816150?redirectedFrom=fulltext</u>> accessed 01/05/2019

- Carens, J. H., "Who Should get in? The Ethics of Immigration Admissions" (2003) 17(1), *Ethics & International Affairs*
- Caseiro, S. F., "Países Seguros uma solução ou outro problema" (November 2017) II(4), Análise Europeia: Revista da Associação Portuguesa de Estudos Europeus
- Costello, C., "Safe Country? Says Who?" (2016), 28, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, <<u>https://academic.oup.com/ijrl/article/28/4/601/2548383</u>> accessed 23/02/2019
- Gil-Bazo, M., "The Practice of Mediterranean States in the Context of the European Union's Justice and Home Affairs External Dimension. The Safe Third Country Concept Revisited" (2006), 18(3), *International Journal of Refugee Law*,
 https://academic-oup-com.kuleuven.ezproxy.kuleuven.be/ijrl/article/18/3-4/571/1537925> accessed 15/05/2019
- Gil-Bazo, M., "The Safe Third Country Concept in International Agreements on Refugee Protection: Assessing State Practice" (2015), 33(1), *Netherlands Institute of Human Rights*, <<u>https://journals-sagepub-</u> com.kuleuven.ezproxy.kuleuven.be/doi/abs/10.1177/016934411503300104> accessed 23/02/2019
- Guiraudon, V., "European Integration and Migration Policy: Vertical Policy-making as Venue Shopping" (June 2000), 38(2), *Journal of Common Market Studies*



- Hunt, M., "The Safe Country of Origin Concept in European Asylum Law: Past, Present and Future" (2014), 26(4), International Journal of Refugee Law
- Janmyr, M., "No country of asylum: 'Legitimizing' Lebanon's Rejection of the 1951 Refugee Convention" (2017), 29(3), *Interntional Journal of Refugee Law*, <<u>https://academic.oup.com/ijrl/article/29/3/438/4345649</u>> acceded 08/05/2019
- Kaunert, C. and Leonar, S., "The development of the EU Asylum policy: venue-shopping in perspective" (2012), 10(9), *Journal of European Public Policy*
- Lavenex, S., "Shifting up and out: The foreign policy of European immigration control" (2006), 29(2), *Western European Politics*
- Legomshy, S. H., "Secondary Refugee Movements and the Return of Asylum Seeker to Third Countries: The Meaning of Effective Protection" (2003), 15(4), *International Journal of Refugee Law*
- Mandel, R., "Perceived security threat and the global refugee crisis" (1997), 24(1), Armed Forces and Society
- Niemann, A. and Zaun, N., "EU Refugee Policies and Politics in Times of Crisis: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives" (2018), 56(1), JCMS
- Pijnenburg, A., "From Italian Pushbacks to Libyan Pullbacks: Is Hirsi 2.0 in the Making in Strasbourg?" (2018), 20, *European Journal of Migration and Law*
- Pijnenburg, A., Gammeltoft-Hansen, T. and Rijken, C., "Controlling Migration through International Cooperation" (29 November 2018), 20(4), *European Journal of Migration and Law*
- Slominski, P. and Trauner, F., "How do Member States Return Unwanted Migrants? The Strategic (non-)use of 'Europe' during the Migration Crisis" (2018), 56(1), *JCMS*
- Spijkerboer, T., "The Global Mobility Infrastructure: Reconceptualising the Externalisation of Migration Control" (2018), 20, *European Journal of Migration and Law*
- Stefanova, M., "The 'Safe' Need Not Apply: The Effects of the Canadian and EU Safe Country of Origin Mechanisms on Roma Asylum Claims" (2014), 49(1), *Texas International Law Journal*, <<u>https://search-proquest-</u> <u>com.kuleuven.ezproxy.kuleuven.be/docview/1523911038/fulltextPDF/88C8DC763CF74D16PQ</u> /1?accountid=17215> accessed 14/06/2019



- Strik, T., "The Global Approach to Migration and Mobility" (written 21 December 2017, published 23 February 2018), 5(2), *Groningen Journal of International Law*, <<u>https://poseidon01.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=676067083085099089121026064121069078034</u> 05001902306007402902310308810202203012609309903206001803205904605310311008702 30201180131260230300410680700281190970280660020040630870100250780811091200710 25065007068101027120016086023086074006107003025086120065087&EXT=pdf> accessed 23/03/2019
- Tubakovic, T., "A Dublin IV recast: A new and improved system?" (March 2017), 46, Egmont European Policy Brief, <<u>http://www.egmontinstitute.be/content/uploads/2017/03/EPB-A-Dublin-IV-recast-A-new-andimproved-system-new.pdf</u>?> accessed 15/02/2019

Books

- Amaya-Castro, J. M., "International refugees and Irregular Migrants: Caught in the Mundane Shadow of Crisis" (ch), *Netherlands Yarbook of International Law 2013* (Mielle K. Bulterman and Willem J.M. van Genuugten ed, Asser Press, 2014)
- Cierco, T., A Instituição de Asilo na União Europeia (Coimbra, Edições Almedina, August 2010)
- Clayton, G., Firth G., "Immigration law and human rights" (ch), *Immigration & Asylum Law* (8th Edition, Oxford, 2018)
- Geddes, A. and Scholten, P., "Towards Common EU Migration and Asylum Policies?" (ch), *The Politics of Migration and Immigration in Europe* (2nd edition, SAGE, 2016)
- Heschl, L., Protecting the Rights of Refugees Beyond European Borders Establishing Extraterritorial Legal Responsibilities (Intersentia, 2018)
- Kingsley, Patrick, A Nova Odisseia: a história da crise europeia dos refugiados (Relógio D'Água, 2016)
- Koser, K., "Migration and Security: Exploding the Myths and Understanding the Realities" (ch), *Demography of Refugee and Forced Migration* (Graeme Hugo, Mohammad Jalal Abbasi-Shavazi and Ellen Percy Kraly ed, Springer, 2018)



- Macklin, A., "A safe country to emulate? Canada and the European refugee" (ch), *The Global Reach of European Refugee Law* (Cambridge University Press, 2013), <<u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/297166069_A_safe_country_to_emulate_Canada_an_d_the_European_refugee/references</u>> accessed 01/05/2019
- Martin, S. F., "Forced Migration and Refugee Policy" (ch), *Demography of Refugee and Forced Migration* (Graeme Hugo, Mohammad Jalal Abbasi-Shavazi and Ellen Percy Kraly ed, Springer, 2018)
- Moreno-Lax, V., "The Legality of the 'Safe Country' notion contested: Insights from the Law of Treaties" (ch), *Migration and Refugee Protection in the 21st Century: Legal Aspects* (Académie de droit international de La Haye, 2015), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/59632a847.pdf</u>> accessed 15/05/2019
- Schaefer, A., "A Conferência de Évian", *Portugal e os Refugiados Judeus Provenientes do Território Alemão* (1933-1949) (Imprensa da Universidade de Coimbra, 2014)
- Marinho, Inês Filipa Pires, "O Direito de Asilo na União Europeia: problemas e soluções" (ch), *Estudos de Direito Europeu e International dos Direitos Humanos* (Ana Maria Guerra Martins ed, Almedina, 2005)

Newspaper articles

BBC News, "Portugal to naturalise descendants of Jews expelled centuries ago", *BBC News* (London, 29 January 2015), <<u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-31051223</u>> accessed 31/05/2019

Betts, A. and Collier, P., Alexander Betts and Paul Collier, "How Europe Can Reform Its Migration Policy: The Importance of Being Sustainable", *Foreign Affairs* (New York, 5 October 2018), <<u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/europe/2018-10-05/how-europe-can-reform-its-</u> migrationpolicy?utm_campaign=reg_conf_email&utm_medium=newsletters&utm_source=fa_registration > accessed 31/05/2019



- Bowcott, O., "ICC submission calls for prosecution of EU over migrant deaths", *The Guardian* (London, 3 June 2019), <<u>https://www.theguardian.com/law/2019/jun/03/icc-submission-calls-for-prosecution-of-eu-over-migrant-deaths</u>> accessed 3/06/2019
- Casciani, D., "UN warns over EU asylum rules", *BBC News Online* (London, 30 March, 2004), <<u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/europe/3580665.stm</u>> acceded 24/4/2019
- Dejevsky, M., "The Geneva refugee convention can't cope with this crisis. Time for a rethink", *The Guardian* (London, 18 January 2016), <<u>https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2016/jan/18/geneva-refugee-convention-crisis-</u> <u>demand-eu</u>> acceded 08/05/2019
- DePillis, L., Saluja, K. and Lu, D., "A visual guide to 75 years of major refugee crises around the world", *The Washington Post* (Washington, 21 December 2015), <<u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/world/historical-migrant-crisis/</u>> acceded 08/05/2019
- Fotiadis, A., Smith, H. and Kingsley, P., "Syrian refugee wins appeal against forced return to Turkey", *The Guardian*, (London, 20 May 2016), <<u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/may/20/syrian-refugee-wins-appeal-against-forcedreturn-to-turkey</u>> accessed 20/05/2019
- Kirchgaessner, S., "Italy's Salvini warns EU to 'defend its border' against migrants", *The Guardian* (London, 20 June 2018), <<u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jun/20/italys-salvini-warns-eu-to-defend-its-border-against-migrants></u> accessed 31/05/2019

Reports, legal opinions and legal notes

- Amnesty International, "The human cost of Fortress Europe: Human Rights violations against migrants and refugees at Europe's borders" (9 July 2014), <<u>https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/8000/eur050012014en.pdf</u>> accessed 23/03/2019
- Amnesty International, "Europe's Gatekeeper: Unlawful Detention and Deportation of Refugees from Turkey" (December 2015),

<<u>https://www.asylumineurope.org/sites/default/files/resources/eur4430222015english.pdf</u>> accessed 20/05/2019



Amnesty International, Turkey: Illegal mass returns of Syrian refugees expose fatal flaws in EU-Turkey deal (1 April 2016),

<<u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2016/04/turkey-illegal-mass-returns-of-syrian-refugees-expose-fatal-flaws-in-eu-turkey-deal/</u>> accessed 20/05/2019

Amnesty International, "A Blueprint for Despair: Human Rights Impact of the EU-Turkey Deal" (2017),

<<u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/EUR2556642017ENGLISH.PDF</u>> accessed 14/06/2019

Amnesty International, "Turkey 2017/2018" (2018), <<u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/countries/europe-and-central-asia/turkey/report-turkey/</u>> acceded 03/05/2019

- Berry, M., Garcia-Blanco, I. and Moore, K., "Press Coverage of the Refugee and Migrant Crisis in the EU: A Content Analysis of Five European Countries" (Report prepared for the United Nations High Commission for Refugees, UNHCR, December 2015), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/56bb369c9.pdf</u>> acceded 18/03/2019
- Boček, T., "Report of the fact-finding mission to Turkey" (Council, 10 August 2016), <<u>https://www.asylumineurope.org/sites/default/files/resources/sg_inf201629_srsg_migration_ref</u>ugees fact-finding mission final e.pdf > accessed 20/05/2019
- Commission, "Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the Application f Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005 on Minimum Standards on Procedures in Member States for Granting and Withdrawing Refugee Status" (Report) COM (2010) 465 final,

<<u>http://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/1/2010/EN/1-2010-465-EN-F1-1.Pdf</u>> accessed 25/10/2019

Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe, "Lives saved. Rights protected. Bridging the protection gap for refugees and migrants in the Mediterranean" (24 May 2019), <<u>https://rm.coe.int/lives-saved-rights-protected-bridging-the-protection-gap-for-refugees-</u>/168094eb87> accessed 25/06/2019



- Diaz, J. A. M., "Opinion of the European Economic and Social Committee on the proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and the Council establishing an EU common list of safe countries of origin for the purpose of Directive 2013/32/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection, and amending Directive 2013/32/ EU" (10 December 2015), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52015AE5379&from=PT> accessed 1/07/2019</u>
- Displacement Monitoring Centre, "No matter of choice: displacement in a changing climate" (Thematic Series, December 2018), <<u>http://www.internal-displacement.org/sites/default/files/publications/documents/20181213-slow-onset-intro.pdf</u>> accessed 31/05/2019
- Durukan, O., "Country Report: Turkey" (ECRE ed, AIDA, December 2015), <<u>https://www.asylumineurope.org/reports/country/turkey</u>> accessed 20/05/2019
- ECRE, "ECRE Information Note on the Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005 on minimum standards on procedures in Member States for granting and withdrawing refugee status" (2006), <<u>https://www.ecre.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ECRE-Information-Note-on-the-Asylum-Procedures-Directive_October-2006.pdf</u>> acceded 25/04/2019
- ECRE, "Comments from the European Council on Refugees and Exiles on the European Commission Proposal to recast the Asylum Procedures Directive" (May 2010), <<u>https://www.ecre.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ECRE-Comments-on-the-Commission-proposal-to-recast-the-Asylum-Procedures-Directive May-2010.pdf</u>> accessed 02/05/2019
- ECRE, Forum Réfugiés-Cosi, the Irish Refugee Council and the Hungarian Helsinki Committee, "Mind the GAP: An NGO Perspective on Challenges to Accessing Protection in the Common European Asylum System – Annual Report 2013/2014" (AIDA, 9 September 2014), <<u>https://www.asylumlawdatabase.eu/sites/default/files/aldfiles/aida_annual_report_2013-</u> <u>2014_0.pdf</u>> accessed 02/05/2019
- ECRE, "Information Note on Directive 2013/32/EU of the European parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection (recast)" (December 2014), <<u>https://www.ecre.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ECRE-Information-Note-on-the-Asylum-Procedures-Directive-recast_December-2014.pdf</u>> acceded 28/04/2019
- ECRE, "'Safe countries of origin': A safe concept?" (AIDA Legal Briefing no 3, September 2015), <<u>https://www.ecre.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/AIDA-Third-Legal-Briefing_Safe-Country-of-Origin.pdf</u>> accessed 03/04/2019



- ECRE, "Common asylum system at a turning point: Refugees caught in Europe's Solidarity Crisis Report" (Comparative Reports, 10 September 2015), <<u>https://www.asylumineurope.org/sites/default/files/shadow-reports/aida_annualreport_2014-</u> 2015_0.pdf> accessed 03/04/2019
- ECRE, "ECRE Comments on the Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedures Regulation" (November 2016), <<u>https://www.ecre.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/ECRE-Comments-APR -November-2016-final.pdf</u>> acceded 01/05/2019
- ECRE, "Country Report: Turkey" (2018 Update, AIDA, 39 March 2019), <<u>https://www.asylumineurope.org/news/29-03-2019/aida-2018-update-turkey</u>> accessed 08/06/2019
- European Asylum Support Office, "Annual Report on the Situation of Asylum in the European Union 2015" (2016), <<u>https://www.easo.europa.eu/sites/default/files/public/EN_%20Annual%20Report%202015_1.p</u> df> accessed 03/04/2019
- European Asylum Support Office, "Annual Report on the Situation of Asylum in the EU 2017: Executive Summary" (2018), <<u>http://publications.europa.eu/webpub/easo/annual-report-2017/img/Executive-</u> Summary EN.pdf> accessed 03/04/2019
- FRA, "Opinion of the EU Agency for Fundamental Rights concerning an EU common list of safe countries of origin" (Opinion – 1/2016), <<u>https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra_uploads/fra-</u> 2016-opinion-safe-country-of-origin-01-2016 en.pdf> accessed 03/04/2019
- UN General Assembly, "Meeting on Refugees and Displaced Persons in South-East Asia, convened by the Secretary-General of the United Nations at Geneva, on 20 and 21 July 1979, and subsequent developments: Report of the Secretary-General" (7 November 1979) A/34/627, <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae68f420.html</u>> acceded 18/03/2019
- UN Human Rights Council, "Report of the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants: Banking on mobility over a generation: follow-up to the regional study on the management of the external borders of the European Union and its impact on the human rights of migrants" (8 May 2015) A/HRC/29/36, <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/5576e3ba4.html</u>> accessed 23/03/2019



- UNHCR, "Background Note on the Safe Country Concept and Refugee Status" (26 July 1991), EC/SCP/68, <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae68ccec.html</u>> acceded 25/4/2019
- UNHCR, "UNHCR's Position on a Harmonized Approach to Questions Concerning Host Third Countries" (1 December 1992), https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b31d47.html accessed 14/06/2019
- UNHCR, "Improving Asylum Procedures: Comparative analysis and Recommendations for Law and Practice Detailed Research on Key Asylum Procedures Directive Provisions" (March 2010), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/4c7b71039.pdf</u>> acceded 25/4/2019
- UNHCR, "UNHCR comments on the European Commission's Amended Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection status (Recast) COM (2011) 319 final" (January 2012), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/4f35256c9.pdf</u>> accessed 17/05/2019
- UNHCR, "Note on the Mandate of the High Commissioner for Refugees and his Office" (October 2013), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/5268c9474.html</u>> acceded 18/03/2019
- UNHCR, "Legal considerations on the return of asylum-seekers and refugees from Greece to Turkey as part of the EU Turkey Cooperation in Tackling the Migration Crisis under the safe third country and first country of asylum concept" (23 March 2016), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/56f3ee3f4.html</u>> accessed 20/05/2019
- UNHCR, "Better Protecting Refugees in the EU and Globally: UNHCR's proposals to rebuild trust through better management, partnership and solidarity" (December 2016), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/58385d4e4.html></u> acceded 02/05/2019
- UNHCR, "Legal Considerations regarding access to protection and a connection between the refugee and the third country in the context of return or transfer to safe third countries" (April 2018), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/publisher,UNHCR,POSITION,,5acb33ad4,0.html</u>> acceded at 04/05/2019
- UNHCR, "Desperate Journeys Refugees and migrants arriving in European and at Europe's borders: January December 2018" (2019), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/desperatejourneys/</u>> accessed 25/04/2016, p "Arrival by Country 2018 Jan-Dec"
- UNHCR, "On the European Commission Proposal for an Asylum Procedure Regulation COM (2016) 467" (April 2019), <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/5cb597a27.html</u>> acceded 2/05/2019



UNHCR, Global Reports, Publications, <<u>http://reporting.unhcr.org/publications#tab-global_appeal&_ga=2.251141574.139877978.1559305595-1258753952.1482448555</u>> accessed 31/05/2019

Websites and blogs

- Amnesty International, "Turkey 'safe country' sham revealed as dozens of Afghans forcibly returned hours after EU refugee deal" (23 March 2016), <<u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/press-releases/2016/03/turkey-safe-country-sham-revealed-dozens-of-afghans-returned/</u>> accessed 14/05/2019
- Amnesty International, "EU: Human rights cost of refugee deal with Turkey too high to be replicated elsewhere" (14 February 2017), <<u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2017/02/eu-human-rights-cost-of-refugee-deal-with-turkey-too-high-to-be-replicated-elsewhere/</u>> accessed 14/06/2019
- Amnesty International, "Cruel European migration policies leave refugees trapped in Libya with no way out" (12 November 2018), <<u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2018/11/cruel-</u> european-migration-policies-leave-refugees-trapped-in-libya-with-no-way-out/> accessed 14/06/2019
- Commission, "More Responsibility in managing the refugee crisis: European Commission adopts 40 infringement decisions to make European Asylum System work" (Press Release, 23 September 2015), <<u>http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release IP-15-5699 en.htm</u>> accessed 09/05/2019
- Commission, "Migration: Regional Disembarkation arrangements: follow-up to the European Council Conclusions of 28 June 2018" (Factsheet), <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/20180724_factsheet-regional-disembarkation-arrangements_en.pdf</u>> accessed 01/04/2019
- Commission, "An EU 'Safe Countries of Origin' List", <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/background-information/docs/2_eu_safe_countries_of_origin_en.pdf</u>> accessed 02/05/2019



- Commission, "Global Approach to Migration and Mobility (GAMM)" (Migration and Home Affairs), <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/content/global-approach-migration-and-mobility-gamm_en</u>> accessed 06/07/2019
- Corrao, I., "EU-Turkey Statement & Action Plan" (Legislative Train Schedule: Towards a New Policy on Migration, 20 February 2019), <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/legislative-train/theme-towards-a-new-policy-on-migration/file-eu-turkey-statement-action-plan accessed 26/03/2019</u>
- Council, "EU-Turkey statement" (Press Releases, 18 March 2016), <<u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2016/03/18/eu-turkey-statement/</u>> accessed 20/05/2019
- DEMIG (2015) *DEMIG POLICY, version 1.3, Online Edition*. Oxford: International Migration Institute, University of Oxford, <<u>https://www.imi-n.org/data/demig-data/demig-policy-1/download-the-data/demig-policy-data-downloads</u>> accessed 24/4/2019
- Displacement Monitoring Centre, "Total annual new displacements since 2003 (Conflict and violence) and 2008 (Disasters)", <<u>http://www.internal-displacement.org/database/displacement-data</u>> accessed 31/05/2019 (6)
- ECRE, Amnesty International, Europe and Central Asia Division Human Rights Watch, Caritas Europa, Churches' Commission for Migrants in Europe, ILGA Europe, Médicins Sans Frontières, Pax Christi International, Save the Children & QCEA, "Call for withdrawal of the Asylum Procedures Directive" (22 March 2004), <<u>https://www.amnesty.eu/news/refugee-and-human-rights-organisations-across-europe-call-on-eu-to-scrap-key-asylum-proposal-0164/>acceded 24/04/2019</u>
- ECRE, "Turkey: Constitutional Court Pilot Judgement on Protection from Refoulement" (26 October 2018), <<u>https://www.ecre.org/turkey-constitutional-court-pilot-judgement-on-protection-from-refoulement/</u>> accessed 08/06/2019
- ECRE, "EU-ALS Summit Overshadowed by AU Document Thwarting EU Plans for 'Disembarkation Platforms'" (ECRE Weekly Bulletin, 1 March 2019), <<u>https://www.ecre.org/eu-las-summit-overshadowed-by-au-document-thwarting-eu-plans-fordisembarkation-platforms/</u>> accessed 01/04/2019
- ECtHR,"Overview1959-2018:ECHR"(March2019),<<u>https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Overview_19592018_ENG.pdf</u>>acceded at 03/05/2019



- European External Action Service, "EU-Libya relations" (Factsheets, 9 November 2018), <<u>https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/19163/eu-libya-relations_en</u>> accessed 14/06/2019
- European Parliament, "Safe countries of origin: Proposed common EU list" (Briefing: EU Legislation in Progress, 8 October 2015),

<<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/EPRS/EPRS-Briefing-569008-Safe-countries-of-origin-FINAL.pdf</u>> acceded 30/04/2019

- European Parliament, "Migration and Asylum: a challenge for Europe" (Fact Sheets on the European Union, 18 June 2018),
- <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/PERI/2017/600414/IPOL_PERI(2017)600414_EN</u> .pdf> accessed 21/03/2019
- Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme, "Problem of Refugees and Asylum-Seekers Who Move in an Irregular Manner from a Country in Which They Had Already Found Protection" No. 58 (XL) (UNHCR, 13 October 1989), <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/excom/exconc/3ae68c4380/problem-refugees-asylum-seekers-moveirregular-manner-country-already-found.html</u>> accessed 14/05/2019
- Fernandes, J. M., "Emergency support mechanism for the refugee crisis" (Legislative Train Schedule: Towards a New Policy on Migration, 20 February 2019), <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/legislative-train/theme-towards-a-new-policy-on-migration/fileemergency-support-mechanism-for-the-refugee-crisis</u>> accessed 26/03/2019
- Government of Canada, "The Government discontinues its appeal in the YZ Litigation" (7 January 2016), <<u>https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/news/2016/01/the-government-discontinues-its-appeal-in-the-y-z-litigation.html</u>> acceded 1/05/2019
- Human Rights Watch, "Turkey: Syrians Pushed Back at the Border" (23 November 2015), <<u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/11/23/turkey-syrians-pushed-back-border</u>> accessed 20/05/2019
- Keller, S., "1st Emergency Recolocation Scheme" (Legislative Train Schedule: Towards a New Policy on Migration, 20 February 2019), <<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/legislative-train/theme-towards-a-new-policy-on-migration/file-1st-emergency-relocation-scheme</u>> accessed 26/03/2019
- Legal Aid Ontario's LawFacts, "Designated Countries of Origin", <<u>http://lawfacts.ca/taxonomy/term/187</u>> accessed 01/05/2019



- Migration and Home Affairs, "Global Approach to Migration and Mobility", <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/international-affairs/global-approach-to-migration_en</u>> accessed 23/03/2019
- Office of Public Information United Nations Relief and Rehabilitations Administration, "50 Facts
aboutWNRRA", (15 February1947),
1947),
38a4dd1ecb25/publishable_en.pdf> accessed 18/03/2019
- Palm, A., "The Italy-Libya Memorandum of Understanding: The baseline of a policy approach aimed at closing all doors to Europe?" (*EU Immigration and Asylum Law and Policy*, published on 16 May 2017 and last update on 13 September 2017), <<u>https://eumigrationlawblog.eu/the-italy-libya-memorandum-of-understanding-the-baseline-of-a-policy-approach-aimed-at-closing-all-doors-to-europe/</u>> accessed 01/04/2019
- Pollet, K., "All in vain? The fate of EP positions on asylum reform after the European elections" (*EU Immigration and Asylum Law and Policy*, 23 May 2019), <<u>http://eumigrationlawblog.eu/all-in-vain-the-faith-of-ep-positions-on-asylum-reform-after-the-european-elections/</u>> accessed 31/05/2019
- Schengen Visa Info, "Schengen Agreement" (Schengen Visa Information, 18 October 2018), <<u>https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/schengen-agreement/</u>> accessed 9/05/2019
- Skretteberg, R., "2019 will be another year of crises" (Norwegian Refugee Council), <<u>https://www.nrc.no/shorthand/fr/2019-will-be-another-year-of-crises/index.html</u>> accessed 31/05/2019
- Sokolska, I., "Developments up to the Single European Act" (Fact Sheets on the European Union, October 2018),

<<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/en/FTU_1.1.2.pdf</u>> accessed 21/03/2019

- South Africa Government, "Transcript copy: Interaction with media by Home Affairs Minister Dr Nkosazana Dlamini Zuma regarding amendments to the Immigration Bill and new permitting regime, Media Statements" (2 September 2011), <<u>https://www.gov.za/transcript-copyinteraction-media-home-affairs-minister-dr-nkosazana-dlamini-zuma-regarding</u>> accessed 19/05/2019
- South Africa Regional Office, "Key Figures" (UNHCR), <<u>http://reporting.unhcr.org/node/2524</u>> accessed 19/05/2019



- United Nations, "UN Summit for Refugees and Migrants 2016", <<u>https://refugeesmigrants.un.org/summit</u>> accessed 08/05/2019
- Villa, M., Gruijters, R. and Steinhilper, E., "Outsourcing European Border Control: Recent Trends in Departures, Deaths and Search and Rescue Activities in the Central Mediterranean" (Blog of Faculty of Law of University of Oxford,11 September 2018), <<u>https://www.law.ox.ac.uk/research-subject-groups/centre-criminology/centrebordercriminologies/blog/2018/09/outsourcing</u>> accessed 31/05/2019
- "European Pact on Immigration and Asylum" (Summaries of EU Legislation, 11 September 2014), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3Ajl0038</u>> accessed 23 March 2019 (116)
- "The Hague Programme: 10 priorities for the next five years" (Summaries of EU Legislation, 13 November 2009), <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM:116002</u>> accessed 23/03/2019

Working Papers

Betts, A. and Collier, P., "Sustainable Migration Framework" (June 2018), EMN Norway Occasional Papers,

<<u>https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/59c035d6145c48a59d834ce1969f33cb/emn-norway-occasional-papers-sustainable-migration-framework-oxford-uni.pdf</u>> accessed 31/05/2019

Ericsson, S., "Asylum in the EU Member States" (January 2000), Civil Liberties Series, LIBE 108 EN,

<<u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/workingpapers/libe/pdf/108_en.pdf</u>> accessed 23/03/2019